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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Welcome.

          3  Welcome, everyone. My name is Jim Gennaro, Chairman

          4  of the Committee on Environmental Protection. This

          5  is a three-part, sponsored by three different

          6  committees. To my left is Council Member Alan

          7  Gerson, Chairman of the Committee on Lower Manhattan

          8  Redevelopment. To my right, Chairperson Christine

          9  Quinn of the Health Committee.

         10                 Thank you all very much for being

         11  here. It's a very critical and important issue and

         12  we're happy that you're all here today. So, I'm

         13  going to wish you all a good morning. The Chairs of

         14  the other committees that are sort of co-chairing

         15  with me will make their own opening statements in

         16  turn, and I would be remiss at this moment if I

         17  didn't recognize the presence of the former Chairman

         18  of this Committee, Stan Michels, who served on this

         19  Committee for ten years. I would like him to be

         20  recognized now, and just have a little round of

         21  applause for Stan Michels.

         22                 I thank you very much for being here.

         23  It was Stan who really got the ball rolling on this

         24  issue last November with two very important hearings

         25  that he had on that, and from those hearings there
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          2  was a very important report that was produced. We

          3  have a copy of it here, I hope everyone gets their

          4  copy of this, and once we make our opening

          5  statement, Stan will be our first witness and he'll

          6  tell us all about the feat that we have in front of

          7  us.

          8                 So, let me just recap a little bit.

          9  On November 1st and 8th of last year, our

         10  predecessor committee had an oversight hearing, or

         11  two oversight hearings on environmental impacts

         12  caused by Lower Manhattan from the terrorist attack.

         13  I won't read my whole statement, it's kind of

         14  lengthy.

         15                 We sought insight on critical issues,

         16  including the short-term and long-term impact of

         17  this unprecedented event. We heard testimony from

         18  many, many federal, state and local officials, and

         19  also medical experts, and many of the witnesses

         20  testified that the agencies that were doing the

         21  testing were not -- excuse me. Passions run high on

         22  this issue, I thank you all for keeping order.

         23                 I've already made mention of the very

         24  important report that was produced, and since those

         25  hearings that we had last year, there have been
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          2  hearings by the State and by the federal government.

          3  We're also joined by Congressman Nadler, who I

          4  believe is in the room.

          5                 Is Congressman Nadler in the room?

          6  Okay. Certainly this is his district, he's been very

          7  active on this issue and we're very grateful to him

          8  for his leadership.

          9                 And, so, what we're going to do today

         10  is sort of follow up on the report that's been put

         11  forward last, I guess it was late December it came

         12  out. There was a host of recommendations made in

         13  that report. We'll be questioning the various

         14  agencies that come before us today on what steps, if

         15  any, they've taken to take strides in fulfilling

         16  some of those recommendations.

         17                 I know everyone here today has the

         18  same object that we're looking to make happen. We

         19  want to make Lower Manhattan safe. We want to do the

         20  right things by our businesses and certainly by our

         21  residents. The dust problems were very, very

         22  significant, I've been to many of these hearings,

         23  and to see the tales of woe of local residents and

         24  the dust piled high in their apartment, wondering

         25  what level the government is taking what steps to
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          2  make sure that the testing is being done

          3  appropriately, that the clean-up is being done by

          4  people who know how to do these kinds of clean-ups,

          5  they're wondering whether or not there should be

          6  some kind of, you know, re-entry standard to make

          7  sure that they're cleaned up to standards.

          8                 I haven't really been satisfied with

          9  the government's actions to date on this, perhaps

         10  today we'll have a little bit of a breath of fresh

         11  air and we'll hear that things are doing better. But

         12  certainly we'll probe everyone here to see what, if

         13  any, action they've taken on these recommendations.

         14                 One interest of mine that I'm going

         15  to be following up on is precisely that point. This

         16  dust certainly should be presumed to contain toxic

         17  materials, and my biggest concern to come out of

         18  this hearing is to what extent, you know, government

         19  is doing all it can to make sure that this dust is

         20  being tested, to make sure that it's being cleaned

         21  by people who will perform an adequate clean up and

         22  not just make things worse by stirring up the dust

         23  and getting it all into other areas of the

         24  residences.

         25                 We also want to make sure that the
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          2  heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems in

          3  all these buildings are properly cleaned and

          4  maintained. We're looking for government to play a

          5  large role in this, larger than they have, and

          6  that's the prime focus that I'm looking for out of

          7  this hearing.

          8                 We'll also be considering a

          9  resolution by Council Member Gerson and myself

         10  calling upon the Mayor to designate an overall

         11  oversight agency to make sure that all aspects of

         12  the clean-up proceed as they should.

         13                 And without further ado, I'll turn it

         14  over to my co-chair, Council Member Quinn, Chair of

         15  the Health Committee, to make her opening statement.

         16                 Council Member Quinn.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. I'll

         18  be brief.

         19                 I first want to also recognize and

         20  thank former Council Member Stanley Michels for all

         21  the work that he did. He did that work at a time

         22  where the City Council actually was without a Chair

         23  of our Health Committee and therefore without an

         24  active Health Committee, because the then Chair of

         25  the health Committee, Council Member Robles, had
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          2  become the City Clerk.

          3                 So, it was a time where, in addition

          4  to the tragedy which had occurred, and all the work

          5  that needed to be done, additionally Stanley needed

          6  to step in and fill a vacuum which existed in the

          7  Council because Victor had moved on. So, I want to

          8  thank you, in general, and particularly, I want to

          9  thank you in my new role as Chair of the Health

         10  Committee.

         11                 I also want to just recognize that

         12  Congress Member Nadler had stepped out to take a

         13  call but has re-entered the room, and as Chairperson

         14  Gennaro said, Congress Member Nadler represents the

         15  area where the September 11 attack occurred. He also

         16  represents all of my City Council district and has

         17  been doing just an unbelievable job working and

         18  attempting to improve the response and the

         19  coordination from agencies on this City, State and

         20  federal level, so I am looking forward to hearing

         21  from him and his staff today about what else they

         22  have found out.

         23                 You know, obviously as we move

         24  forward today in this hearing, there are a couple of

         25  foci for this hearing, in my opinion, and foci for
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          2  the ongoing work of the Committee, our committees in

          3  the Council.

          4                 One, we need to get as much accurate

          5  information as possible for the Council and for the

          6  citizens of New York about what the status of this

          7  situation is downtown, what are the health impacts

          8  that are being caused for people who live very close

          9  by and people who live at other parts in the City

         10  because we know that the health impacts of the

         11  pollutants and other situations are not limited

         12  exclusively to people who live very close to Ground

         13  Zero.

         14                 We also need to, I hope that we'll be

         15  able to get as much frank and honest information

         16  today as possible, because I believe only when we

         17  have that information will we then be able to

         18  aggressively involve, aggressively engage in

         19  problem-solving and making sure that all steps are

         20  taken to address concerns that residents have,

         21  concerns that businesses have, and to make sure we

         22  have a system in place so if somebody sees something

         23  going on, earlier before the hearing began a woman

         24  was commenting that she had had -- that the streets

         25  were not being wet down in the way that they are
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          2  supposed to be and that she was dissatisfied with

          3  calling one agency and being told to call another.

          4                 That's just one example of a failure

          5  in our structure that we don't have a system in

          6  place where residents can call and get the

          7  responsiveness they need.

          8                 So, I hope today we get honest, frank

          9  information which will then enable us to improve the

         10  structures that are in place, put additional

         11  structures in place, and also come up with any

         12  additional funding and legislation that is necessary

         13  to make sure that we are all working on the same

         14  team and not in a position where people feel that

         15  they're working, that government is working against

         16  them and not with them.

         17                 So, I hope today continues on that

         18  type of forward moving problem solving path that I

         19  believe that Council Member Michels put us on back

         20  in December when he began these hearings.

         21                 Thank you, Chairperson Gennaro.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         23  Council Member Quinn.

         24                 I was just about to call on Council

         25  Member Gerson, who is in the middle of receiving a
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          2  phone call.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: It's supposed

          4  to be turned off.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: This better be

          6  someone really important.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON QUINN: It's the

          8  President. It's 40 billion now. We can all go home.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Council Member

         10  Gerson.

         11                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you,

         12  Chair Gennaro, Chair Quinn, fellow colleagues. I

         13  promise you that the tone of my voice is not a prop

         14  for this morning's hearing, but as a resident of

         15  downtown Lower Manhattan, perhaps somebody is trying

         16  to tell us something.

         17                 I want to first join my colleagues in

         18  expressing appreciation and gratitude to our

         19  predecessor and my friend, and I hope that I'm

         20  allowed to call you my mentor, Stanley Michels, for

         21  all the work that you have done on behalf of the

         22  environment, not only for downtown, but for all of

         23  the City.

         24                 We look forward to working with you

         25  and receiving your input and wisdom in the days
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          2  ahead.

          3                 Let me also acknowledge my own

          4  Congress Member Jerrold Nadler, from whom we'll be

          5  hearing a little later this morning, hopefully this

          6  morning, and I presume this morning, and, again,

          7  thank you for your leadership.

          8                 I would also like to acknowledge, we

          9  have in the audience, we'll hear from him shortly,

         10  but before, while the Commissioners are here, I

         11  would like to introduce and acknowledge Dr. Eric

         12  Chatfield.

         13                 Doctor, if you could wave or stand.

         14                 And the doctor has come to us from

         15  Toronto. He's a recognized expert in the field of

         16  asbestos fiber counting and measurement and

         17  analysis, internationally recognized. The reason I

         18  wanted to make special mention of Dr. Chatfield, is

         19  that in the immediate days following the tragedy, a

         20  day or two afterwards, because of a previous

         21  association I had, we called on Dr. Chatfield and he

         22  voluntarily, voluntarily came to New York, a couple

         23  of his colleagues, went downtown, went to Ground

         24  Zero, took the measurements that we needed taken,

         25  and this was at a time of great uncertainty and
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          2  confusion, and he, in fact, authored the very, very

          3  first report, which we'll be hearing about later on.

          4                 And, so, he's one of the heroes in

          5  this episode.

          6                 So, Dr. Chatfield, I wanted to thank

          7  you in my opening remarks.

          8                 I would like to ask Page Filian

          9  (phonetic) just to stand up with her son Noah. How

         10  old is Noah?

         11                 MS. FILIAN: Five months.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Five months.

         13  Congratulations.

         14                 Page and Noah and their family live

         15  in the Independence Plaza North Complex. Page is one

         16  of many residents of downtown who lived through this

         17  collective nightmare. She is one of many residents

         18  who are directly impacted by the ongoing operations

         19  and conditions.

         20                 She has said that from her window she

         21  has seen countless days and times when dust is

         22  spilled from trucks bringing debris to the barge

         23  without watering down, without any follow-up clean

         24  up, until she would call and complain and then

         25  sometimes there would be intensive watering for a
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          2  period of time.

          3                 She is one of many residents downtown

          4  who have reported that she and her family, after all

          5  they've been through, still cannot get a good night

          6  sleep because they are impacted day after day by the

          7  24 hour barge and noise operation, and we know that

          8  while this is horrendous for anybody under any

          9  conditions, it's a special burden on those who have

         10  been through the trauma of 9/11.

         11                 And she's one of many residents from

         12  the Battery North to the Lower Greenwich Village,

         13  from river to river, who are uncertain and concerned

         14  as to whether or not the asbestos fiber and the

         15  other dust and particles which we know, we know has

         16  been spread by the plume and by he explosion of

         17  9/11, but we don't know whether or not it's been

         18  adequately cleaned up and removed from the building

         19  air vent systems, from the air conditioners, from

         20  the nooks and crannies of the apartments where

         21  people live, where children go to school, from the

         22  parks where kids play and the sidewalks or the

         23  crevices where people of all ages walk and lead

         24  their daily lives.

         25                 I know and we know this City and our
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          2  City agencies were set upon with an unprecedented

          3  burden. My hat is off to you, the agencies, the men

          4  and the women who measured up to the task in the

          5  days following 9/11. We know you had a job to do and

          6  we commend you for what you did, but we also know

          7  that more needed and still needs to be done. And,

          8  so, the focus of this hearing is going forward to be

          9  sure that we complete the clean-up, because we're

         10  not going to build up downtown until we clean up

         11  downtown, and every concern of people like Page and

         12  her newborn, should be fully addressed immediately.

         13  There's no longer any excuse or any need for delay.

         14                 So, in conclusion, I would like to

         15  ask the agencies if you could, while addressing the

         16  broad points I mentioned, consider at least four

         17  very specific, very specific needs.

         18                 One is what I referred to, the need

         19  to assure that every part of downtown has been

         20  eliminated, has been cleaned up with the fiber and

         21  the dust eliminated from the air vent systems, from

         22  the air conditioners, for every part of the

         23  apartment.

         24                 You know, we know in the early

         25  nineties the DEP offered free testing for lead in
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          2  water to individual apartments. Should there not be

          3  a similar plan or program, a COMSTAT-type program,

          4  if you will, that monitors and assures that an

          5  apartment-by-apartment basis, unit-by-unit,

          6  everything is satisfactorily cleaned up. I will

          7  point out and I will conclude, we were attacked, we

          8  know that. The landmines that are left after the

          9  attack are the asbestos fibers and the dust and

         10  particles, and they're waiting to explode, if you

         11  will, in the lungs of our children and all persons

         12  of all ages. Should not government in some level

         13  take on the responsibility of assuring that these

         14  landmines are dismembered and removed fully?

         15                 Self-certification, you'll hear

         16  testimony later, has not worked. So, we ask you, can

         17  we have some kind of a program to take over from

         18  self-certification.

         19                 Secondly, in past highly-charged

         20  instances, City agencies such as DEP have made

         21  provision and provided funding for community

         22  consultants. Trained professionals worked directly

         23  for the community, and, thus, were able to interpret

         24  technical speak, and interpret difficult data to

         25  serve as a liaison to the communities. Can we not
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          2  have a similar situation or program under the

          3  current conditions?

          4                 Thirdly, as the debris continues,

          5  should we not now switch immediately to green and

          6  environmentally sound clean-up procedures?

          7  Non-diesel fuel, ideally natural gas, noise and dust

          8  suppression, using state-of-the-art noise and dust

          9  suppression technologies, and we'll hear testimony

         10  about that later.

         11                 And, finally, the barge. It's time to

         12  move or to end the barge.

         13                 If there ever was a need to locate it

         14  there in the aftermath of the emergency, you can no

         15  longer justify keeping that operation directly

         16  opposite 1,300 resident units, directly opposite in

         17  the vicinity of elementary, middle and high schools

         18  and a community college, the very people whose lungs

         19  are most susceptible from the dust and the fiber

         20  that cannot help but to be spread from that type of

         21  operation.

         22                 So, I ask you to address yourself to

         23  those four points. And in conclusion, we've been

         24  joined by my predecessor, Kathryn Freed, who has

         25  been outspoken in standing up for our community. Let
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          2  me just thank Kathryn on behalf of our community for

          3  all the work that you have done.

          4                 And with that, Mr. Chair, I think we

          5  should begin.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          7  you, Council Member Gerson.

          8                 I just would like to recognize the

          9  other members that are here with us today. We have

         10  Council Member Sears from Queens, Council Member Liu

         11  from Queens, Council Member Golden from Brooklyn,

         12  Council Member Reed from Manhattan, Council Member

         13  Vallone from Queens, Council Member Stewart from

         14  Brooklyn, Council Member Jennings from Queens.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I'm sorry,

         16  just on an administrative note, the order of

         17  testimony, we're going to be starting with

         18  government agencies, we'll start with Stanley

         19  Michels followed by government agencies, followed by

         20  a special panel experts and residents, followed by

         21  more experts, followed by residents. I point out

         22  this order to impress upon the agencies that

         23  community residents have been advised that they

         24  would not be able to testify until later on in the

         25  day, so we expect large amounts of community
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          2  residents to join us in progress.

          3                 I know you all have busy schedules,

          4  but to the extent you can, I invite you to stay, or

          5  to have representatives present so you can hear

          6  directly from the community. Rest assured they are

          7  coming, and we speak as one.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          9                 You finished?

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         12                 Yes, so I've recognized the Council

         13  Members, it's my pleasure now to call our first

         14  witness, the former Chair of this Committee, Stan

         15  Michels. And we're take the practice in this

         16  hearing, as we do in all of our hearings now pretty

         17  much, to swear our witnesses.

         18                 So, we have the Counsel to the

         19  Committee that will administer the oath.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         21  affirm that the testimony you are about to give is

         22  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

         23  truth?

         24                 MR. MICHELS: I do.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.
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          2                 As you said so many times when I used

          3  to sit next to you up here, just like you used to

          4  say, please state your name for the record, and give

          5  us your testimony.

          6                 It's a pleasure to have you here,

          7  Stan.

          8                 MR. MICHELS: Thank you.

          9                 Good morning. I'm Stanley Michels,

         10  former New York City Council Member, and former

         11  Chair of the Environmental Protection Committee. I

         12  thank you all for the nice words you've been saying

         13  about me, and I hope I can live up to them.

         14                 I'd like to thank you for holding

         15  this hearing, and for the privilege and courtesy of

         16  inviting me to be your first witness this morning.

         17                 I congratulate all of you for being

         18  elected and re-elected, and I want to congratulate

         19  the respective chairs. My dear friend Christine

         20  Quinn is now the Chair of the Health Committee, and

         21  I know she's going to do a magnificent job. Alan

         22  Gerson, Chair of the Select Committee on the Lower

         23  Manhattan Redevelopment, and to all of you for being

         24  members of this very important committees, I wish

         25  all of you well and pledge that I will help you in
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          2  every way I possibly can now and in the future.

          3                 As a point of personal privilege, as

          4  the former Chair of this Environmental Committee, I

          5  am privileged, and I take great pride, that a former

          6  member of my staff, Jim Gennaro, is chair of this

          7  Environmental Committee.

          8                 Jim, I wish you all the luck in the

          9  world.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Stan.

         11                 MR. MICHELS: And I know that you will

         12  continue to do good work, as you did for me, in the

         13  future. And we need you and the City needs you and

         14  we very much appreciate your being here.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you so

         16  much. God bless. Thank you. And we were going to

         17  have a formal turnover of the gavel, but it's

         18  unnecessary, this is a symbolic turnover of the

         19  gavel to you, and I wish you well.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Stan,

         21  so much.

         22                 MR. MICHELS: I would also like to

         23  thank all of those people who have contributed to

         24  this wonderful Committee's report, Mary Mastropaolo,

         25  Jeff Haberman, Alison Rosen, Roberta Ragone,
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          2  Elizabeth McLaughlin, Steve Solomon, Robert Gormley,

          3  Rica Rinzler, and especially, my former Chief of

          4  Staff, Steve Simon. They should all be very proud of

          5  the hard work.

          6                 I also would like to pay special

          7  attention to Alison Rosen, Alison Sachs Rosen, who I

          8  understand this is her last meeting as a Counsel to

          9  the Committee. She served our Committee well, done a

         10  magnificent job, and I wish her God speed, and wish

         11  her well in the future.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Stan, if I could

         13  just, maybe we could have a little round of applause

         14  for Alison for all of her great work.

         15                 MR. MICHELS: All right. Stand up,

         16  Alison.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Stan,

         18  and thank you, Alison.

         19                 MR. MICHELS: We certainly appreciate

         20  the amount of the great work that they do. As you

         21  know, as being a staff person, how hard the staff

         22  works.

         23                 Never did I think when I became chair

         24  of this Committee back in '91, 1991/'92, that we

         25  would be faced with such an important issue.
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          2                 We worked on recycling issues, waste

          3  disposal and the watershed, but this issue today

          4  transcends all issues that we've ever had. The

          5  terrorist attack on the World Trade Center

          6  devastated the City, the country, as well as the

          7  world. The Council, as a continuing legislative

          8  body, should be proud that we were the first people

          9  to hold hearings on this issue, issue a report, and

         10  issue recommendations that are here before us today.

         11                 I passed around some pictures of the

         12  original pictures of the cover of the report, and I

         13  think it really shows in devastating detail what was

         14  really happening, the cloud that was coming upon the

         15  City.

         16                 After reviewing the testimony from

         17  the hearings, as has been said, on November 1st to

         18  November 8th of last year, and observing the rescue

         19  operation at Ground Zero and at Pier 25, the

         20  Committee on Environmental Protection formulated a

         21  report entitled Air Quality and Environmental Impact

         22  Due to the World Trade Center Disaster.

         23                 The report reviewed the testimony

         24  delivered at previous Council hearings and offered a

         25  series of recommendations that we believe the City
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          2  should adopt.

          3                 We feel that these recommendations,

          4  if implemented, would help protect the people of

          5  this City who are living there, going to school, or

          6  working around the area of the World Trade Center,

          7  and enable the City to be better prepared, if, God

          8  forbid, and I emphasize God forbid, we should be

          9  ever faced with another such environmental disaster.

         10                 This report I hope is and will be in

         11  the future an invaluable tool for those people who

         12  study this issue after us.

         13                 I'm so pleased that the Council is

         14  continuing our good work, and checking on the

         15  agency's progress in regarding to the numerous air,

         16  health and general environmental issues, as well as

         17  their progress on implementing the recommendations

         18  contained in the report.

         19                 It is important today to question the

         20  witnesses who follow me on how responsive their

         21  agencies have been to these recommendations.

         22                 I will now go through briefly some of

         23  the report's recommendations.

         24                 It is recommended that we establish

         25  indoor air quality standards. And I emphasize, and
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          2  the reason that this recommendation was put first

          3  was we feel it was the most important

          4  recommendation.

          5                 Testimony noted that a large variety

          6  of hazardous substances, such as carbon monoxide,

          7  asbestos, lead, fiberglass, dioxins, PCBs and

          8  benzene were found in the dust that spewed from the

          9  World Trade Center buildings and infiltrated office

         10  buildings, schools and residents, as their

         11  ventilation systems pulled in indoor air.

         12                 Not all of the chemical particulates

         13  and other pollutants to which people were and they

         14  continue to be exposed, have precise standards,

         15  against which the risk of public health may be

         16  measured.

         17                 So, therefore, our recommendation was

         18  that the health and safety standards must be

         19  established for the known toxic substance or other

         20  pollutants, which specific indoor air standards have

         21  not been yet established, and they should be two

         22  reference levels; an action level that would trigger

         23  an emergency response; and it's a performance level

         24  that has no adverse health or safety effects, and

         25  that is the standard that should attained, which is
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          2  the basis that we should be looking at.

          3                 For those substances for which such

          4  standards exist, those standards must be re-examined

          5  to determine if they are sufficiently protective of

          6  public health and safety.

          7                 Our next recommendation is we should

          8  develop a clean-up and post clean-up protocols for

          9  indoor, and I emphasize indoor spaces. Right now

         10  there is not much we can do about outdoor, it's

         11  happened. We did make recommendations on that but

         12  right now we're concentrating on indoor spaces.

         13                 Contamination in residences and

         14  office buildings is not a problem to individual

         15  apartment, office dwellers, office workers, even

         16  most building managers can address on their own.

         17                 Personnel are needed to adequately

         18  collect environmental samples. If hazards are found,

         19  special clean-up techniques, that means cleaning of

         20  ventilation ducts, and special equipment, high

         21  efficiency, particulate air HEPA type vacuums are

         22  needed. Untrained individuals imposing improper

         23  techniques could make the situation worse by

         24  attempting cleaning that leaves invisible hazards

         25  behind. That's why you need experts.
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          2                 The Committee was particularly

          3  concerned that involved agencies have largely

          4  ignored these indoor places, have done little

          5  monitoring and testing inside buildings and exercise

          6  little oversight of the monitoring and testing done

          7  by private property owners.

          8                 One agency, the Department of

          9  Environmental Protection, should be responsible for

         10  ensuring that a building is cleaned properly before

         11  it may be reoccupied or is deemed safe to continue

         12  in occupancy.

         13                 And that periodic post-clean-up

         14  monitoring and testing, which are performed,

         15  protocol should be established for the clean-up and

         16  post-clean-up monitoring and testing of buildings.

         17                 Our next recommendation was the study

         18  of the short-term human impacts of the contaminants.

         19                 The World Trade Center site is a

         20  unique source of air pollution that created

         21  pollutants of a number and diversity that is

         22  unprecedented. Given that ambient air standards are

         23  for individual pollutants only, governmental

         24  agencies at all levels need to develop a greater

         25  expertise in evaluating the short-term and
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          2  cumulative health and environmental effects of

          3  exposure of multiple contaminants and pollutants.

          4                 Consequently, it is imperative that

          5  research be initiated immediately to assess the

          6  scope and nature of the impacts on people from

          7  combination of pollutants and to write standards

          8  that adequately assess and address these impacts.

          9                 We have known this as the synergistic

         10  effect, which I think you made reference to.

         11                 Due to the necessary scope of such

         12  testing with its attending costs, the federal

         13  government, rather than our State or City, should

         14  undertake, or fund the full panoply of required

         15  studies regarding the cumulative impact of the

         16  combination of these contaminants in the air.

         17                 The result of these studies should be

         18  released as they are completed, and recommendations

         19  founded upon those studies should be developed

         20  immediately thereafter.

         21                 The next recommendation, which is

         22  something that I think is very important and

         23  continues to be very important, we should expand a

         24  planned central medical registry.

         25                 While there is testimony from the
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          2  representatives of the Department of Health that

          3  that agency is developing a central medical registry

          4  for rescue and recovery workers of the World Trade

          5  Center site, such a registry should also include the

          6  residents of the World Trade Center area, others who

          7  worked in the area, and students of the many schools

          8  in the area, with health complaints within specific

          9  geographic boundaries to be established by the

         10  agency.

         11                 All levels of government must also

         12  work with the area hospitals, health care centers,

         13  private physicians and universities, such as Mount

         14  Sinai, New York University and Columbia University,

         15  whose staffs are treating and evaluating residents

         16  and workers who are getting ill from the effects of

         17  the collapse of the World Trade Center.

         18                 They must study the data collected by

         19  these health care providers, and universities, in

         20  order to get a better understanding of the short-

         21  and long-term effects of exposure to such air.

         22                 And we know there were some reports

         23  about the Fire Department, many firemen and other

         24  people. Because we also know that immediately

         25  thereafter many of them were not wearing
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          2  respirators, and as a matter of fact, at our site

          3  visit, which I included in the report, respirators

          4  were not being worn, and I have some pictures which

          5  I will give you which we took at our site visit, so

          6  you can have them as part of the permanent record.

          7                 The Central Registry should be

          8  maintained by the Department of Health in

          9  consultation with those health care providers and

         10  universities for a period of at least 20 years,

         11  maybe even more, and should contain data relating to

         12  those health complaints, that data should be

         13  accessible to all legitimate medical personnel,

         14  specific consideration to be given to include data

         15  relating to newborns whose mothers were exposed to

         16  the World Trade Center contaminants.

         17                 We also made recommendations to

         18  designate the Department of Environmental Protection

         19  as the lead agency to handle environmental issues

         20  affected by the World Trade Center. We made

         21  recommendations where containerization of debris at

         22  Pier 25, as long as that happens, and I also think

         23  that it should be removed as soon as possible.

         24                 A recommendation that we should

         25  expand outdoor air quality and testing, and very
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          2  important recommendations requiring mitigation or

          3  reduction of pollutants from the trucks which are

          4  now removing the debris from the World Trade Center.

          5                 There must be a mitigation reduction

          6  of the diesel exhaust from these vehicles, and

          7  generators involved in the clean-up, and recovery of

          8  all equipment and vehicles running on diesel fuel

          9  should be supplied with low sulfur fuel, 30 parts

         10  per mil or sulfur, or lower.

         11                 New York City Transit is currently

         12  running all its diesel buses on low sulfur fuel, so

         13  it is readily available, technology that can be

         14  installed to further reduce unhealthy admissions,

         15  such as attaching filters directly to the tailpipes

         16  of the vehicles.

         17                 We also added a recommendation to

         18  improve enforcement of local and existing laws. The

         19  City should enforce existing laws and regulations

         20  relating to the protection of workers, restricting

         21  the idling of trucks which transport the debris.

         22                 A monthly report of notices of

         23  violations to be given to the Council, the Mayor and

         24  the Manhattan Borough President, Community Board No.

         25  1.
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          2                 The next recommendation, we're coming

          3  to the end of this, is establish hot lines to

          4  provide air quality reports, and that sort of says

          5  it for itself, it should be a hot line and we should

          6  let people know what's going on. And we should also

          7  enhance community participation. The City should

          8  enlist more community participation in the decisions

          9  made regarding the World Trade Center issues.

         10  Environmentalists need to include seven monthly

         11  community meetings and meetings in the area, and

         12  it's very important that be done.

         13                 And then I also recommend a dedicated

         14  funding for businesses and residents, a dedicated

         15  disaster fund should be established that would work

         16  specifically to be earmarked in addressing the

         17  environmental concerns relating to the World Trade

         18  Center disaster, including clean-up, testing and

         19  ongoing monitoring.

         20                 There are situations that occurred

         21  that we found after we did this report, and they

         22  should be looked at.

         23                 We discovered all of the fuel that

         24  was found from the two substations of Con Ed, and

         25  involved in World Trade Center 7, we should be
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          2  looking into that and seeing what the consequences

          3  of that is.

          4                 This is a continuing story, a

          5  continuing problem. So, even though we had our

          6  report, that's not the end-all, it's got to

          7  continue, you've got to keep looking at it.

          8                 So, I thank you very much for

          9  listening to me, I look forward to watching you

         10  continue your work on this very important issue, and

         11  I thank you for listening to me today.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chairman. Thank you.

         15                 How about a round of applause for our

         16  previous Chairman. Thank you.

         17                 Please wait.

         18                 MR. MICHELS: Sure. I'm not leaving. I

         19  know enough to ask you about questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

         21  much for setting the stage for this hearing, for

         22  doing this report, and by so eloquently laying out

         23  the case that we must make now before these

         24  officials.

         25                 It's critically important that we do
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          2  that, and I hope that we're up to the task.

          3                 I wish you were up here with us.

          4                 MR. MICHELS: I am in spirit.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And so, it's

          6  certainly terrific to have you here.

          7                 MR. MICHELS: I have been succeeded by

          8  a very wonderful young man, Council Member Bob

          9  Jackson.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I know the guy.

         11                 MR. MICHELS: And I'm very pleased

         12  that he's here. I supported him and wish him well.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         14                 Thank you very much, Stan. And I

         15  believe we have a question for you from Council

         16  Member Vallone.

         17                 Council Member Vallone.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I just needed

         19  to interrupt --

         20                 MR. MICHELS: That name is slightly

         21  familiar.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Actually, let

         23  me continue that for a second. I congratulate you

         24  being here and I remember the day when I sat there

         25  as Counsel to CHOCE and testified about air
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          2  pollution from the power plants and you sat here and

          3  questioned me, so now you're in big trouble

          4  actually.

          5                 No, just a very quick question. You

          6  came up with some very great recommendations, and

          7  that's why we're here today, to study those, and we

          8  appreciate that, and they're well thought out. Do

          9  you have an opinion as to the time frame that would

         10  result from these recommendations? Would they result

         11  in any inordinate delay, or do you think that these

         12  recommendations can be implemented and still get the

         13  clean-up done --

         14                 MR. MICHELS: I think there are

         15  different time situations, where there is time

         16  frames for each one of the recommendations. Some

         17  should be done right away, some must wait for the

         18  study. But I think as we learn things going along

         19  the way, we should do as much as we can to implement

         20  those recommendations which are justified. I think

         21  they're all justified and they're very good. I think

         22  we have to rely on our expertise and we have to

         23  really be open about this. This is something that's

         24  never happened before, and my recommendations are

         25  based upon the witnesses, the many witnesses who
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          2  came and testified, and some of them who are going

          3  to be testifying here today, hear them again.

          4                 I'm prepared to listen to them. You

          5  may develop more recommendations after you hear from

          6  the witnesses today and find new situations. But I

          7  think it's extremely important that we do not waste

          8  time studying issues, and that we do things and be

          9  very proactive in making sure that the people of our

         10  City are kept healthy.

         11                 We'll never get over it. I mean, I

         12  still remember December 7th, 1941, and all of us

         13  will remember this until the day we die. So we have

         14  to do everything, we have an obligation to take care

         15  of it and do everything we can now.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you. I

         17  agree completely, and as you know, as counsel to

         18  CHOCE, the reason I ran for the office was to be

         19  sitting on this Committee, and improve our air

         20  quality. And again, I thank you for coming here

         21  today. I look forward to working with this Committee

         22  and you to implement your recommendations.

         23                 MR. MICHELS: Thank you very much. My

         24  best to your father.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.
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          2                 Is there any other member that has a

          3  question for Chairman Michels.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Just one very

          5  important question. Can we continue to call on you

          6  for your ongoing input?

          7                 MR. MICHELS: I'll be insulted if you

          8  don't. Let the record so note.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. Thanks

         10  very much.

         11                 MR. MICHELS: I see my dear friend

         12  Phil Reed, and all of you here who were in the

         13  Council with me, and Kathryn Freed is here. Thank

         14  you very much, and I really appreciate your

         15  courtesy.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Stan.

         17  We really appreciate it.

         18                 I'd like to point out that we're

         19  joined by Council Members Clarke and Serrano; Clarke

         20  from Brooklyn and Serrano from the Bronx.

         21                 And without further ado, we'll call

         22  up our government panel. I have a listing of the

         23  names in front of me. Hopefully it's complete.

         24                 Kathleen Callahan from EPA; Patricia

         25  Clarke from OSHA; Robert Adams from the DDC; Jessica
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          2  Leighton, am I saying that right?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

          4  Leighton.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Leighton, from

          6  DOH.

          7                 Carl Johnson from State DEC; Deputy

          8  Commissioner Bob Avaltroni, from DEP; and Richard

          9  Scherer from OEM.

         10                 That's everybody? Is that the

         11  government panel? That's everybody, right?

         12                 I'll wait to take your seats.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: Mr.

         14  Chairman?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Council Member

         16  Jennings.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: If you could

         18  just have the witnesses identify themselves so I

         19  know whose speaking?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Certainly, we'll

         21  take care of that.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 Okay, we're going to be giving an

         24  oath to the witnesses. I guess we'll swear everyone

         25  in at once, so whatever like is for the oath to be
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          2  administered and then each of the witnesses to

          3  identify yourself by name and whoever is going to

          4  present testimony could start.

          5                 Everybody will name themselves first,

          6  and then we'll go back to whoever is going to read

          7  their first statement, and then we'll take all the

          8  statements in order, or whoever has statements. So,

          9  without further ado, we'll do the oath.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         11  affirm that the testimony you're about to give is

         12  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

         13  truth?

         14                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: We do.

         15                 (The above-named witnesses were sworn

         16  in.)

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Please state

         18  your names for the record, in order, and then

         19  whoever is going to present the first testimony,

         20  please do so.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Good morning,

         23  I'm Richard Sheirer, I'm the Commissioner of

         24  Emergency Management.

         25                 MS. CALLAHAN: I'm Kathy Callahan,
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          2  from the United States Environmental Protection

          3  Agency, Region II.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Welcome.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JOHNSON: Carl

          6  Johnson, Deputy Commissioner for Air and Waste

          7  Management with the New York State Department of

          8  Environmental Conservation.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: I'm

         10  Bob Avaltroni, Deputy Commissioner of DEP.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Welcome.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

         13  Jessica Leighton, City Health Department Assistant

         14  Commissioner.

         15                 MS. CLARKE: Patricia Clarke, OSHA,

         16  Regional Administrator.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Welcome.

         18                 MR. ADAMS: I'm Bob Adams, Director of

         19  Environmental Health and Safety for the DDC.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Nice to have you

         21  here.

         22                 So, you'll do testimony first? I just

         23  would like to remind the witnesses that when each

         24  speaks in turn you'll have to re-ID yourself so that

         25  the tape will know who is speaking.
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          2                 So, thanks very much, and please

          3  proceed with your testimony.

          4                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Good morning,

          5  Chairperson Gennaro, Quinn, Gerson, members of the

          6  City Council, distinguished guests, ladies and

          7  gentlemen, I'm Richard J. Sheirer, I'm the

          8  Commissioner of Emergency Management. I'm pleased to

          9  have been given the opportunity to come before you

         10  today to discuss how OEM will coordinate air quality

         11  issues with its state, federal partners in Lower

         12  Manhattan.

         13                 Joining me today are representatives

         14  from other agencies, crossing all lines of

         15  government, to provide you with the information that

         16  you are requesting, and information as to what has

         17  occurred since September 11th.

         18                 As you know, OEM's expertise is

         19  coordinating and responding to issues, some of them

         20  long-term, such as the West Nile Virus, some of them

         21  short-term, such as last summer's heat and energy

         22  emergencies. We have hosted preparatory meetings

         23  with the Department of Health, the Department of

         24  Environmental Protection, and the Mayor's Office of

         25  Environmental Coordination, each of these
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          2  departments will play a role to address the

          3  temporary air quality concerns in Lower Manhattan.

          4                 This effort is built on a solid

          5  foundation of the experiences gained over the past

          6  six months with the World Trade Center and over the

          7  years that OEM has been operating with issues such

          8  as this.

          9                 Since the attack and the destruction

         10  of the World Trade Center on September 11th, OEM

         11  along with the New York City Department of

         12  Environmental Protection, Department of Health, New

         13  York State Department of Environmental Conservation,

         14  USEPA, United States Department of Health and Human

         15  Services have been proactive in their work to

         16  identify and mitigate environmental issues.

         17                 The Mayor's Emergency Operation

         18  Center posted meetings every night at 6:00

         19  specifically to address the health and safety issues

         20  of the World Trade Center disaster.

         21                 These meetings were regularly

         22  attended by representatives of many of the 150

         23  agencies who were in the EEOC.

         24                 Our joint response to this event was

         25  influenced by the need for obviously for public
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          2  safety, to protect our environment and to respond to

          3  the concerns raised by residents, business operators

          4  and local elected officials.

          5                 Over 40 air monitors have been

          6  installed in key locations all over Lower Manhattan,

          7  and these monitors are continually taking samples,

          8  seeking out traces of any substance.

          9                 These monitors, in addition to

         10  thousands of bulk samples and data from personal

         11  monitors have helped shape the City's response to

         12  the air quality concerns in Lower Manhattan.

         13                 Responding to the scientific data

         14  from these monitors and working collaboratively with

         15  these colleagues at the state and federal levels,

         16  OEM has aimed to efficiently respond to the air

         17  quality concerns of the area.

         18                 For example, working closely with our

         19  partners in DDC and Sanitation, we have consistently

         20  insisted on more and better dust suppression at the

         21  Trade Center site and any site involved with it, and

         22  continually to respond to any complaint that that

         23  process is not being followed properly.

         24                 Additionally, the City is announcing

         25  today the establishment of an air quality hot line
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          2  that can be used by New York City residences and

          3  businesses to answer any questions connected with

          4  the air quality issues in Lower Manhattan.

          5                 This hot line will begin operation on

          6  next Monday, it will be staffed Monday to Friday,

          7  from 11:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. to cross business hours

          8  and the hours when people are at home, and it will

          9  be manned by trained personnel from the Departments

         10  of Environmental Protection and Health and can be

         11  contacted by residents and business operators who

         12  want specific information on the dust issues that

         13  you rose, Chairman.

         14                 It can also be contacted by parents

         15  who are concerned about the quality of the air in

         16  the City's schools located in the area near the

         17  former site. And also to get information on the

         18  testing that's constantly being done.

         19                 The hot line phone number is

         20  212-221-8635. I'll repeat that. It's 212-221-8635,

         21  and that will begin operation on Monday at 11:00

         22  a.m.

         23                 Experts from the EPA and the City's

         24  Department of Environmental Protection and ELF, have

         25  carefully reviewed the vast reams of environmental
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          2  data in the six months since the tragic events of

          3  September 11th.

          4                 The degree of concern surrounding air

          5  quality issues, as evidence to us by members of the

          6  community, the elected officials, our own

          7  experience, need for us to better communicate our

          8  findings on what we have found through our

          9  monitoring programs. The hot line will be an avenue

         10  to do that, as we find additional ways to

         11  communicate the findings that we are getting on a

         12  daily basis.

         13                 In closing, the City will continue to

         14  monitor the air quality in Lower Manhattan, and

         15  provide information and assistance to residents and

         16  businesses, and at this time I'd like to turn the

         17  microphone over to the representatives of the

         18  various state and local agencies, federal agencies,

         19  who will speak to the technical and scientific issue

         20  and who will answer any of your questions in those

         21  areas.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         23                 Okay, we're just going to let

         24  everybody make their statements and then we will

         25  start the questioning once everyone has made their
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          2  statement.

          3                 Thank you, Commissioner.

          4                 Please identify yourself for the

          5  record, and present your testimony.

          6                 MS. CALLAHAN: Good morning, Committee

          7  chairs and members, I am Kathleen Callahan, Director

          8  of EPA, Region II's Division of Environmental

          9  Planning and Protection.

         10                 I have been coordinating the EPA

         11  response to the World Trade Center attacks since the

         12  early days following the disaster and I welcome this

         13  opportunity to discuss our efforts.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Excuse me. I'm

         15  being terribly rude in jumping in, but I was just

         16  made aware of the fact that the Commissioner has to

         17  leave? Maybe we'll just poke one or two questions at

         18  you right now? I mean, I know I just set up an

         19  order, but I was under the impression he was going

         20  to be around to field questions, and just a few

         21  minutes of questions, would that be okay?

         22                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Sure.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, I just want

         24  to put to you the concerns that I voiced and that

         25  the two chairs up here also voiced and that Chairman
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          2  Michels voiced about the need to have people in

          3  these residences doing appropriate testing and

          4  clean-up, because people come to me -- and this is a

          5  question that everyone else is going to get, so

          6  listen up because this is coming at you as well, I

          7  go to a lot of these hearings and folks come to me

          8  and they say, you know, what level of government is

          9  making sure that the building manager that runs my

         10  building is doing the appropriate amount of testing

         11  and is testing where they're supposed to be testing,

         12  and is testing the heating and ventilation and air

         13  conditioning system and assessing on some regular

         14  pattern to make sense, and you know, who is the

         15  level of government that is making sure that this

         16  protocol is getting to this building manager, and

         17  making sure that it's being followed, and once the

         18  testing reveals whatever it reveals, we have to make

         19  sure that the clean-up is done by competent,

         20  professional people who will use the HEPA vacs and

         21  use them in the right way, just like you would do

         22  for a school or anything else? And once that being

         23  done, we have to have some sort of re-entry standard

         24  to make sure that that building is safe to reoccupy,

         25  and they come to me and they want to know what level
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          2  of government is either making sure that's

          3  happening, or in a perfect world would be doing it

          4  itself, but, you know, short of that, making sure

          5  that it's actually being done, just like we would do

          6  for a school.

          7                 And, so, I put the question to you,

          8  because it's my understanding that that doesn't

          9  exist right now. If you're a building manager, there

         10  is no level of government to say, hey, make sure

         11  that the testing is done with these protocols and

         12  with these standards and that the clean-up has to be

         13  done by competent professionals, and once done we

         14  have to have a re-entry standard - that's not going

         15  on right now. And I think you would admit that if

         16  you have toxic materials in an apartment, to have,

         17  you know, novices clean them up, maybe not even with

         18  HEPA vacs, that can be a dangerous situation, and

         19  this is something that's been allowed to go on.

         20                 So, I want you to speak to that

         21  issue, and I hope everyone else heard the question,

         22  because that's question number one to me for

         23  everyone who is going to be speaking here today. So,

         24  I'll give you a shot.

         25                 Commissioner, please.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chairman.

          4                 As many of you know, OEM has, in

          5  dealing with the West Nile crisis, in dealing with a

          6  number of different issues experienced the same type

          7  of varied issues that we haven't had to experience

          8  in the past. As has been said time after time, this

          9  incident is something that nobody could have

         10  foreseen and the consequences of it nobody could

         11  have anticipated. But that being said, what OEM will

         12  do, we will do what we have done with every issue

         13  we're faced with. We will work with each of the

         14  agencies and coordinate their efforts, we will work

         15  to develop the answers to every question that you

         16  have, we will make sure that there is follow up to

         17  every issue that a citizen brings us either through

         18  the hot line, through the mail, or through your

         19  offices, and as we keep working on this, we will

         20  keep you apprised.

         21                 The issue of indoor air quality is an

         22  issue that needs to be fully examined and worked on,

         23  but I can't give you a specific answer now as we put

         24  this together and I listen to your concerns and the

         25  concerns of the people who live down there and who
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          2  are working down in Lower Manhattan. We want to make

          3  sure we do this right for everyone involved.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Certainly, early

          5  on right after this happened, there must have been

          6  some, you know, meetings of everyone involved, you

          7  know, from the City, state and federal level,

          8  saying, okay, we've got to take care of the debris

          9  and we've got to do this, whatever. I mean, it had

         10  to come up. It's like, you know, what do we do about

         11  the local residences? What do we do about these

         12  things? And everyone sitting around the table

         13  probably said, you know, are we comfortable with the

         14  fact that we're going to put out an advisory from, I

         15  understand first there was some kind of advisory

         16  from the Buildings Department that was followed up

         17  by one from the Department of Health, that, you

         18  know, encouraged people to not stir up the dust and

         19  not use brooms and keep it matted down and wetted

         20  and to use HEPA vacs if they had them and to take

         21  down the draperies, you know, slowly, so it was not

         22  to raise dust, and when we're talking about the

         23  presence of potentially toxic materials, I mean it

         24  had to cross people's minds at these early meetings

         25  that maybe it's not such a good idea to let, you
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          2  know, building managers and local residents, people

          3  who aren't, you know, schooled in doing, you know,

          4  HAZMAT clean-ups, to take this upon themselves to

          5  clean this stuff up. And that had to come up at

          6  these meetings.

          7                 What happened there? Why was it that

          8  people had some comfort level with something that I

          9  don't think they should have been comfortable with?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Well, the

         11  comfort level was based upon the fact that the

         12  testing of the environmental samples was such that

         13  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: External.

         15  External.

         16                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: External.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: The outdoor air.

         18                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: The outdoor

         19  air, which would become the indoor air.

         20                 And the dust samples, the swabs that

         21  were done, and we will share that information with

         22  you, did not reflect that the problem was the amount

         23  of toxic substances in the residents. We advised

         24  people on the standards, as I said, nobody has

         25  experienced this in the past. Any issue of this,
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          2  incident of this magnitude. As we go along we revise

          3  things and we address them as we go along.

          4                 But the issue of indoor air quality,

          5  and indoor dust, was based upon the air sampling on

          6  the outdoor air quality and the outdoor dust, and

          7  those results are, clearly, we will make every one

          8  of them available.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let me just

         10  speak to that for a second, this will also be like a

         11  prelude for the other people who will speak for this

         12  issue, and I think what you're probably referring to

         13  is the one percent, you know, asbestos standard, if

         14  you have a sample of dust and if it contains less

         15  than one percent asbestos, it's deemed to be not a

         16  hazard, not asbestos-containing material, and the

         17  one percent threshold, so if you go above the one

         18  percent threshold, then it is considered this kind

         19  of material and you have to take all the appropriate

         20  steps and protocols and would, you know, trigger the

         21  laws and so on that deal with people to have to

         22  clean this up.

         23                 But isn't it the case that the one

         24  percent standard was really developed for sort of

         25  solid materials, like ceiling tiles and that kind of
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          2  thing? And I think it's a very different situation

          3  if you're dealing with something that contains one

          4  percent or -- one percent, and something like an

          5  intact ceiling tile, it's a much different situation

          6  than one percent of a bunch of dust laying in a big

          7  heap, because it's friable, it can get up in the

          8  air, and I think that one percent standard is a

          9  little off the mark. Because it's my understanding

         10  that it was targeted towards those kinds of building

         11  materials that were intact and not, you know,

         12  friable dust.

         13                 And, so, for people to sort of take

         14  some comfort level, in fact, that the one percent

         15  standard is some sort of magic number, I think there

         16  were probably people, such as medical professionals

         17  and others, who will testify to the fact that you've

         18  got children living at an apartment and you've got a

         19  whole pile of dust, and even if it's only one

         20  percent or less of toxic materials, you've got a

         21  real problem on your hands. And, so, I still can't

         22  drive this point home enough that this one percent

         23  standard doesn't do anything for me, and I don't

         24  think it does anything for a lot of the health

         25  professionals. So, I put the question to you again,
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          2  you know, I still having a lot of difficulty with

          3  the comfort level of this one percent, and I'm not

          4  buying it. So, help me out.

          5                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: I'm going to

          6  have the experts talk on that because I'm not a

          7  health expert, nor am I an expert on asthma, and

          8  I'll let them address those issues.

          9                 As I said, based on the information

         10  that we were provided on the testing, we responded I

         11  think very effectively, what we're trying to do now

         12  is make sure people -- we address your concerns, and

         13  if there needs to be changes, we will make those

         14  changes. But I think that we need to get all the

         15  information together, listen to everyone and I

         16  assure you, and those of you who have had experience

         17  with us in the past, OEM will make sure that we

         18  address this issue and we address it fully.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, do you

         20  have to go right now, or could we have questions

         21  from just two more members, if they're briefer than

         22  I am?

         23                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. Council

         25  Member Sears.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I'll be very

          3  brief.

          4                 I just have two questions, one is

          5  that you gave an emergency number, and although I

          6  recognize the critical issue in Ground Zero, Western

          7  Queens and Southern Brooklyn have had some major

          8  problems with the after flow and the clouds that

          9  have come through. Asthmatic conditions in Western

         10  Queens have increased since 9/11. I also have

         11  concerns about other locations that are being

         12  tested, and I know that this is not, I hope it's not

         13  restricted to Manhattan alone, because I can assure

         14  you that Western Queens and Southern Brooklyn have

         15  had a residue of the problems, so that this issue

         16  has become not only a Citywide issue, as well as

         17  it's being a nationwide issue, and although I

         18  recognize the immediacy of dealing with Ground Zero,

         19  I think we have to take a more global issue if we

         20  are to develop a sensitivity to the rest of the

         21  country.

         22                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Well, what we

         23  have done, and the experts will talk to the testing

         24  throughout the City, we have focused on the area

         25  that's most impacted right now.
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          2                 If we need to expand it and add

          3  additional people to answer calls, we will.

          4                 We want to make sure that the lines

          5  are open during those hours that people are both at

          6  business and at home. And depending upon the

          7  response we get and the issues we get, we will

          8  absolutely expand it, and if someone has a

          9  particular problem, please bring it to me and we

         10  will follow it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: We will do

         12  that, and I'm going to urge you to consider

         13  expansion of that, because I'm sure that you will

         14  get calls.

         15                 And the second question, which cannot

         16  be directly answered, I think, is that a word that I

         17  keep hearing is the leniency of the New York City

         18  DEP standards. I hope that the others who testify

         19  can address that.

         20                 What is the difference between the

         21  DEP City, the State and federal? Because if New York

         22  City is far more lenient than the other agencies,

         23  then maybe that has to be looked at and fill those

         24  gaps, because the questions that are being raised

         25  are so strong.
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          2                 So, that is a question that hopefully

          3  will be answered later.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Helen, maybe

          5  we'll let DEP speak to that question, because you

          6  talk about the DEP standards?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Is that okay?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That's fine.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: DEP is on notice

         11  that they have that question coming out.

         12                 Council Member Serrano.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO: Thank you

         14  very much, Mr. Chairman.

         15                 Just a quick question just to help me

         16  understand a little better.

         17                 You mentioned that you were basing

         18  your indoor air quality levels based upon some

         19  outdoor testing, but I'm not sure, to me that

         20  doesn't sound like a very equitable comparison based

         21  upon there's obviously a lot more movement of air

         22  outside, and the chances of things concentrating and

         23  sitting in an apartment are much higher. So, is that

         24  a fair comparison?

         25                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Well, I don't
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          2  believe there are any indoor air standards that

          3  would apply right now. But when I say air quality

          4  testing, and we're not only talking about ambient

          5  air, we're talking about the sampling of the dust in

          6  various locations, and we'll share that information

          7  with you.

          8                 As I said, and I'll say again, as we

          9  go along and we adjust, we'll make sure that all the

         10  issues are addressed.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         12  Councilman.

         13                 Council Member Clarke.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair.

         16                 Commissioner, it seems to me that OEM

         17  is probably the most appropriate agency to really

         18  put in place a systemic approach to dealing with all

         19  of these issues, and it didn't come across, and I

         20  understand, you know, this is such an unprecedented

         21  event, that everything is sort of coming to us at

         22  such a rapid rate. Here we are six months later,

         23  however, and I think we have a sense of the key

         24  areas that really need to be addressed and addressed

         25  in a forthright manner, and I'm wondering if perhaps
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          2  an approach among all of the agencies that you are

          3  coordinating, which sort of set some baseline goals,

          4  you know, this seems to me that it's so fundamental

          5  that we're probably making it more complex, like

          6  door-to-door assessments of what's happening with

          7  the residents, whether in fact appropriate cleaning

          8  has been done, you know, I don't get this sense from

          9  testimony that there's been a systemic approach, it

         10  seems as though we're looking at it from such a

         11  global perspective that the little things that

         12  actually become the big things are what's being

         13  missed in the equation.

         14                 Perhaps you can give us a sense in

         15  this, is there sort of teams going out into the

         16  community that deals with commercial versus

         17  residential, and how frequently do they visit, those

         18  types of things are a bit what I'm concerned about.

         19                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Well, as we

         20  work together on this issue, I assure you there will

         21  be many nuts and bolts issues and we will develop

         22  them, we will follow them, and there will be

         23  follow-up.

         24                 OEM has people out in Lower

         25  Manhattan, both at the site and in the surrounding
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          2  communities every day, making sure that if we see

          3  anything that isn't being done properly, such as

          4  wetting down, we address it right away.

          5                 In terms of the dust and air sampling

          6  issues, we work with DEP and Health, and as we

          7  further develop what we're doing here, to address it

          8  on a nuts and bolts issue, you will see those types

          9  of things and we will keep you informed. And as we

         10  proceed, we will make sure that you know and

         11  everybody in the community knows exactly what we're

         12  doing and we get their concerns.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         14                 I would like to point out to the

         15  witnesses and also to the members here of the

         16  various committees that any questions asked to this

         17  Commissioner, you know, should be considered being

         18  asked of everyone, and to the extent that a question

         19  is being directed at this witness that might be able

         20  to be answered by anyone else, let's keep that in

         21  mind when we do that later on, and maybe it's part

         22  of your statement or whatever or something. Because

         23  the way we're going to work is everyone is going to

         24  give their statement and then everyone is going to

         25  answer sort of like as a group, and now we're kind
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          2  of changing that around a little bit because

          3  Commissioner Sheirer has to leave. But with that

          4  said, I will recognize Council Member Gerson.

          5                 Do you have a question?

          6                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Chairman, I

          7  want to apologize, but the issue that I have to

          8  leave about has been in place for a full --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Quite all right.

         10  No, it's okay.

         11                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: I would love to

         12  stay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I was sort of

         14  laying out, you know, the questions that are asked

         15  to you people, they should keep them in the back of

         16  their minds, and if anyone has any value added to

         17  your answers, they can give us that in turn.

         18                 Council Member Gerson.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Commissioner,

         20  I would much rather have you outside taking care of

         21  business than in here, so I'll try to be as brief as

         22  possible. And if there are any questions that are

         23  appropriately deferred, please feel free to do so.

         24                 First, I just want to congratulate

         25  you and the Mayor on establishing the hot line. I
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          2  think it's a good step, and I congratulate you.

          3                 I take it in addition to answering to

          4  answering questions, it will receive complaints and

          5  comments and forward it on.

          6                 I also take it that you'll have a

          7  translation available for the Spanish-speaking,

          8  Chinese-speaking communities who live in the

          9  downtown area?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: I will make

         11  sure that we have that available.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay.

         13                 Now, I just want to get a sense of

         14  the administrative structure within the City on this

         15  issue. Let me cut to the chase. You have all these

         16  different agencies here, City, also state, federal,

         17  but among the City agencies, are you the boss? Are

         18  you, ultimately, I mean other than the Mayor, do we

         19  go to you?

         20                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Well, our job

         21  at OEM is to coordinate when you have an interagency

         22  issue, and obviously that's what this is. So, we

         23  will do the coordination.

         24                 There will be experts involved, such

         25  as Dr. Jim Miller from the Health Department, who
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          2  we've worked with closely on West Nile Virus, and he

          3  will be working closely with us. There will be a

          4  core group. But you can come to me, I will be

          5  responsible for getting back to you, no matter which

          6  agency is involved.

          7                 And going beyond the City issue, our

          8  relationship, our working relationship with the

          9  State and the federal agencies over the past six

         10  months has been a working relationship that I

         11  haven't seen in 34 years, so I don't anticipate

         12  running into any problems, any roadblocks. We'll

         13  work together seemlessly, and we'll work together to

         14  address this issue.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Great. Now,

         16  does that mean we can go to you about the barge?

         17                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: You can go to

         18  me about the barge.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay, let me

         20  ask you about that.

         21                 When will the operation in its

         22  present form terminate?

         23                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: If I were to

         24  give you a date I would be misleading you, and I'm

         25  not going to do that. I don't know exactly when the
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          2  barge will terminate.

          3                 We are working as quickly as possible

          4  on the recovery operation to remove the debris that

          5  remains at the site.

          6                 If you remember, when the incident

          7  first occurred, there was a projection that it would

          8  take us a full year to remove the debris and recover

          9  all the remains. While we're at the six-month mark

         10  and we're far ahead of that, we've removed over 1.4

         11  million tons of debris. There is probably another

         12  200 to 300,000 tons of debris. And as quickly as we

         13  possibly can shut down that large operation, that's

         14  our intent.

         15                 We will also make sure --

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Are you

         17  talking about a month, a half a year?

         18                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: No, not a half

         19  a year. No.

         20                 We anticipate right now, and I hate

         21  to give dates because there is no timetable and I

         22  think it's very important that people understand

         23  that. We're asked that all the time, "what is your

         24  timetable?" Our timetable is the recovery of all of

         25  the victims who perished in the Trade Center. In
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          2  doing that, we're removing the debris. It's sifted

          3  through mechanically, by hand, 24 hours a day, seven

          4  days a week. We're doing that to get it done as

          5  quickly as possible, for the loved ones who have

          6  lost family.

          7                 Right now we anticipate, unless we

          8  run into some unforeseen problem, that by late May,

          9  early June, the recovery operation for remains will

         10  be ended at the Trade Center site.

         11                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: But you

         12  understand the issues. I don't want to repeat

         13  myself, that I set forth in my opening statement

         14  over the location, of that particular location of

         15  the barge, I mean if that pier was not there, what

         16  would have done? There must be some alternative.

         17                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: If the World

         18  Trade Center disaster didn't happen --

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: No, no, no. I

         20  understand that. But if the pier where you put the

         21  barge did not exist --

         22                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: He had to do a

         23  lot of work to get that pier there, and to do that.

         24  It wasn't simply using, pulling up to a --

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: But at this
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          2  point --

          3                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Can I answer,

          4  please?

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Go ahead.

          6                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: There is no one

          7  in this room, and I assure you, there is no one in

          8  this room, who would like to see that barge

          9  operation ended any quicker than I would.

         10                 I understand what it does to a

         11  community. I'm down there day and night, I know what

         12  it does. We've looked at alternatives, and we

         13  continue to look to alternatives. If there are

         14  viable alternatives, we'll use them. Anything to

         15  lessen the time of the barge is being done.

         16                 When you say where would you have

         17  gone? Tough question. Tough question. Because nobody

         18  had planned for anything like this. Obviously it

         19  wasn't part of the Hudson River Park, and working

         20  with Jim Rotenzio and the staff there, we've worked

         21  to get the park back as much as possible. I can only

         22  say to you that all the agencies that sit before you

         23  are working as fast as they can to end that barging

         24  operation. We will do everything we can to make

         25  sure, reduce the impact where we can reduce it on
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          2  the community involved.

          3                 I know if I lived there, I would be

          4  very, very concerned, but I also would understand

          5  that we're trying to address a situation, that I'm

          6  sure that everybody does, that is unprecedented.

          7  There is no book on this. I've dealt with

          8  emergencies my whole life. There is absolutely no

          9  plan of action that you could have used to this.

         10                 So, we are trying to close the barge

         11  down as quickly as we can.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Reducing the

         13  impact -- real quickly switch to non-diesel fuel for

         14  the trucks, can you do that right away?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: We are looking

         16  at that.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: How long does

         18  it take -- Commissioner, let me say my frustration.

         19                 I really admire OEM. I've seen all

         20  that you are capable of doing in other emergencies,

         21  and I see all that you did in the aftermath, in the

         22  immediate aftermath of 9/11, so I know all that you

         23  are capable of doing. And I mean that. But that's

         24  why it's so frustrating to hear you say that you're

         25  still looking at it, you're still working on it, at
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          2  this point now.

          3                 I mean, your people's lives and

          4  health can't wait. It seems to me at this point we

          5  should have an action plan. We can't move the barge

          6  right away, there should be a plan to convert to the

          7  non-diesel fuel. To put in the noise suppression,

          8  it's been suggested rubberization, for instance, or

          9  perhaps to curtail the hours of the most noisy

         10  operations that go on there.

         11                 There have been other suggestions. We

         12  will hear testimony from dust suppression experts.

         13  It seems to me there should be an action plan in

         14  place that puts mitigation of recognized health

         15  hazards to people as a priority, and why hasn't that

         16  been done?

         17                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: I will look at

         18  each of those issues.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay.

         20                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: I will get back

         21  to you them, and I assure you, we will end that

         22  barging operation as quickly as we can.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Can we then

         24  schedule maybe a weekly, either with you or your

         25  Deputy, a weekly conference to kind of update us on
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          2  progress?

          3                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: You and I or

          4  any member that would like a weekly update, I'll be

          5  glad to.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay. And if

          7  we have, I know you have to run, but we'll be

          8  hearing testimony later today over specific dust and

          9  noise suppression techniques, we will forward that

         10  to you and you'll --

         11                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: I will have a

         12  member of my staff here. I will look at every

         13  procedure that you bring forth, and we'll discuss

         14  it.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay, my very

         16  last question, I promise you: Going back to the

         17  point that Chair Gennaro raised about the indoor air

         18  quality, and when you say that your conclusions as

         19  to indoor air quality is based on outdoor air

         20  measurements, we're going to hear later this morning

         21  testimony from experts who will say that that type

         22  of conclusion does not follow, that in the immediate

         23  aftermath of the catastrophe, asbestos fiber may

         24  have settled in air ducts, in air conditions, in

         25  nooks and crannies of apartments, and even as the
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          2  air quality outside registers clean, unless those

          3  indoor fibers are removed, and there are standards

          4  with which to measure and compare satisfactory and

          5  unsatisfactory indoor swipe standards, but unless

          6  they're removed, if they remain, there is a serious

          7  risk, and over time, the longer those fibers remain

          8  in place, the greater the risk. So, I'd like to ask

          9  you, and this is my last question, I mean, cannot we

         10  put in place, again, knowing what OEM has done in

         11  the past, knowing how good you are, a COMSTAT-type

         12  system that has a building register, and on a

         13  building-by-building, apartment-by-apartment basis,

         14  there's a certification that someone is overseeing

         15  that the air vents, that the ducts have been

         16  cleaned, that the abandoned apartments or the

         17  abandoned buildings have been cleaned, and that the

         18  parks and the public area surrounding it. I mean,

         19  there's got to be some oversight, and if OEM is

         20  ultimately in charge, as you testified, it seems to

         21  me we need to ask you to set that up.

         22                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: We will look at

         23  that. As I said to Council Member Clarke, as we get

         24  into the nuts and bolts, and we will get into all

         25  the nuts and bolts, we will look at that as an
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          2  option and we will look at other options. But I

          3  assure you, I'll get back to you, we'll work on it.

          4                 I ask you to listen to the experts

          5  with an open mind. They're here, the City, state and

          6  federal agencies, and we will follow up on each

          7  issue line-by-line.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 And you will get back to us on that

         11  particular point?

         12                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         14                 Thank you, Council Member Gerson.

         15                 And thank you, Commissioner Sheirer.

         16  Thank you for bearing with us, and thanks for

         17  staying longer than I know that you had time for.

         18                 What I would like to do now -- is

         19  there someone --

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Is there

         21  someone from OEM who is remaining, though, I

         22  believe?

         23                 Commissioner, was there someone from

         24  OEM who was going to remain?

         25                 I'm sorry, Deputy Director?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SHEIRER: Edward Gable.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Edward Gable?

          4  So, if we have any follow-up based on this

          5  testimony, we can direct it to you. Okay.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          7  you very much.

          8                 I think in the interest of time, with

          9  regard to the statements that the next witnesses

         10  wish to read, Counsel has informed me that some of

         11  them are quite lengthy, and to the extent that you

         12  can sort of hit your, you know, salient points and

         13  summarize or paraphrase to sort of give us the meat

         14  of it in the shortest time possible so that we could

         15  spend more time posing questions to the witnesses,

         16  that would be helpful if you could do that.

         17                 So, I would like the next witness to

         18  identify yourself, and present your testimony.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 Kathy, I'm sorry. You were already in

         21  the middle of doing that when I so rudely

         22  interrupted.

         23                 MS. CALLAHAN: Not a problem.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: So, I apologize

         25  but it was special circumstances.
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          2                 MS. CALLAHAN: I understand.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 MS. CALLAHAN: And good morning again.

          6                 I am Kathleen Callahan, Director of

          7  EPA Region II's Division of Environmental Planning

          8  and Protection, and I have been --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I would like to

         10  ask you to speak a little closer to the microphone.

         11  Maybe the technician can turn up the sound a little

         12  bit. Right into the mic.

         13                 MS. CALLAHAN: How's that? Good?

         14                 I have been the one coordinating the

         15  EPA response to the World Trade Center attacks since

         16  the early dates following the disaster, and I do

         17  welcome the opportunity to discuss our efforts with

         18  you.

         19                 Almost six months since this

         20  unprecedented horrific event in our nation's

         21  history, six months of incredibly intense work for

         22  all of the agencies involved in the response, and we

         23  can, finally, pause for a moment to reflect on the

         24  impacts of the attacks and the extraordinary efforts

         25  made by so many.
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          2                 EPA and our federal, state and City

          3  partners have all played important roles in the

          4  protection of public health and the clean-up, and

          5  today we must look toward the future, and the

          6  ultimate recovery of Lower Manhattan, its

          7  environment and its residents.

          8                 EPA's highest priority on September

          9  11th, when we first responded to the disaster, and

         10  since, has been the protection of people's health.

         11  EPA has led the effort to monitor the outdoor

         12  environment with the support from New York State,

         13  and New York City contributed to this effort and has

         14  taken the lead for reoccupancy of buildings.

         15                 The EPA response to the World Trade

         16  Center attacks has been conducted under the federal

         17  response plan, which was activated when President

         18  Bush declared the incident a national disaster.

         19                 Acting on admission assignments from

         20  the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), EPA

         21  is the lead agency for hazardous waste disposal, for

         22  monitoring the ambient environment, and for

         23  coordinating sampling data, for managing worker and

         24  vehicle wash-down operations, and initially

         25  supplying thousands of respirators and other
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          2  personal protective equipment.

          3                 EPA and other agencies have taken

          4  thousands upon thousands of samples of dust, air,

          5  drinking water and stormwater runoff at and around

          6  the World Trade Center site.

          7                 We've also sampled at the Fresh Kills

          8  Landfill in New Jersey and conducted additional air

          9  sampling within the five boroughs.

         10                 We've tested for asbestos, fine

         11  particulate matter, lead and other metals, volatile

         12  organic compounds, dioxin, PCBs, and other

         13  substances that could pose a threat to the public

         14  and workers at the site.

         15                 Fortunately, the vast majority of our

         16  tests continue to find levels of these contaminants

         17  below standards or guidelines set to protect public

         18  health.

         19                 It's important to emphasize, as we

         20  have from day one, that the risks are different for

         21  response workers at the World Trade Center site.

         22                 We have repeatedly said that the

         23  response workers at Ground Zero should wear

         24  respirators and other protective gear.

         25                 We have found asbestos fibers in
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          2  outdoor air and dust samples. However, out of the

          3  more than 6,500 outdoor air samples taken at and

          4  around the site, only 17 have exceeded the Asbestos

          5  Hazard Emergency Response Act standard that we use

          6  as a benchmark for assessing the ambient air.

          7                 The Act itself is used to determine

          8  if children can re-enter a school building after an

          9  asbestos clean-up.

         10                 Of the 17 exceedences, all but six

         11  were recorded before September 30th.

         12                 To minimize risks posed by asbestos

         13  and the dust that covered large swaths of Lower

         14  Manhattan, EPA took a blanket approach to the

         15  clean-up. We used large HEPA vacuum trucks to remove

         16  visible dust and debris from streets, sidewalks,

         17  parks and playgrounds, regardless of whether test

         18  results for that specific location indicated the

         19  presence of asbestos in the material.

         20                 We did this since, having taken in

         21  excess of 140 dust samples in various geographic

         22  locations around Lower Manhattan, we found

         23  approximately 35 percent of the samples had greater

         24  than one percent asbestos. So we took this blanket

         25  approach.
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          2                 To protect workers and the general

          3  public, EPA has been testing for numerous volatile

          4  organic compounds or VOCs, such as benzene and other

          5  pollutants at several sites within and near the

          6  perimeter of the World Trade Center site.

          7                 Air samples taken at the perimeter of

          8  the site bound benzene levels that were low or

          9  non-detectable and dioxin levels generally below

         10  health-based guidelines. Once the fires were

         11  diminished, concentrations of several of these

         12  chemicals declined in most cases to non-detectable

         13  levels, even at the work site.

         14                 Fine particulates, those 2.5 microns

         15  in size, with a few exceptions early on, have also

         16  been below the level of concern.

         17                 We do know that materials in

         18  construction, dust and smoke can be irritants and

         19  can cause more serious reactions in people with

         20  respiratory problems or asthma. Again, this is one

         21  of the reasons we have recommended workers wear

         22  respiratory equipment and impacted homes and

         23  businesses be properly cleaned.

         24                 Several sensitive groups were advised

         25  by the City Health Department and the CDC take

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            81

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL/HEALTH/LOWER MANHATTAN

          2  special precautions and consult their physicians if

          3  they were experiencing symptoms and EPA has echoed

          4  the advice of the Health agencies as well.

          5                 In October, EPA began two scientific

          6  investigations, a health risk evaluation, and a

          7  comparative toxicological study to help better

          8  understand possible health risks to people who may

          9  have been exposed to various pollutants following

         10  the disaster.

         11                 In addition, we supported the Agency

         12  for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry and the

         13  City Health Department and their study of residences

         14  impacted by the World Trade Center collapse.

         15                 EPA understands that Lower Manhattan

         16  residents and building employees still have ongoing

         17  concerns about indoor air.

         18                 Recognizing these concerns, several

         19  weeks ago EPA Administrator Christie Whitman called

         20  for the creation of a Task Force on Indoor Air in

         21  Lower Manhattan. It is bringing our federal, state

         22  and City partners together to assess the needs for

         23  further action.

         24                 The work of this group will enable

         25  Lower Manhattan residents and business employees to
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          2  have confidence in their homes and workplaces that

          3  they are being protected.

          4                 A working group of the task force has

          5  met several times to discuss roles, responsibilities

          6  and the scope of our work.

          7                 The full task force will be meeting

          8  shortly, and we intend to proceed quickly and

          9  efficiently, and in full partnership, as we have

         10  throughout this effort.

         11                 EPA continues our commitment to share

         12  our monitoring results and to explain what they

         13  mean.

         14                 With many of us having witnessed the

         15  attacks and been evacuated from our Lower Manhattan

         16  Offices, EPA staff immediately began sampling,

         17  analyzing, interpreting, and conveying environmental

         18  data to the first line response agencies, the press

         19  and the public.

         20                 Those results are available in

         21  summary form each day on our web site and in detail

         22  at our offices in Lower Manhattan.

         23                 As we look to the future, we will

         24  work with our federal, city and state partners and

         25  Congress on science-based approaches to ensure that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            83

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL/HEALTH/LOWER MANHATTAN

          2  public health is protected.

          3                 This attack has been an assault on

          4  our human sensibilities and a defining event for the

          5  City of New York and for us as individuals.

          6                 I can affirm for you that I could not

          7  be prouder of my colleagues, the many dedicated and

          8  professional EPA employees who have worked

          9  tirelessly, effectively and honestly to protect the

         10  health of all New Yorkers for the past six months.

         11                 This is our goal, and we will pursue

         12  it in our ongoing work. Thank you for giving me the

         13  opportunity to share this.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

         15  much. I appreciate it.

         16                 I will ask the next witness to

         17  identify yourself for the record, and present your

         18  testimony.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JOHNSON: Thank

         20  you. I am Carl Johnson, I am the Deputy Commissioner

         21  for Air and Waste Management with the New York State

         22  Department of Environmental Conservation.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I would also ask

         24  you to speak --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JOHNSON: I'm
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          2  going to get right on the mic.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Directly right

          4  in the mic.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JOHNSON: There we

          6  go.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JOHNSON: I want

          9  to thank the chairs and all the Committee members

         10  for giving the New York State Department of

         11  Environmental Conservation the opportunity today to

         12  testify about our efforts to assist residents and

         13  businesses of Lower Manhattan to recover from the

         14  devastation caused by the destruction of the World

         15  Trade Center complex.

         16                 We share, along with Governor Pataki

         17  and our sister agencies, the highest level of

         18  commitment to managing the clean-up, and we

         19  appreciate the excellent coordination among all

         20  levels of government that have been involved in this

         21  effort. And as Chairman Gennaro requested, I will be

         22  brief today. DEC's responsibility in this effort

         23  primarily has been an outgrowth of our general

         24  responsibility for outdoor air quality, and most of

         25  our role here has been in providing the expertise
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          2  that we have, field staff where we have it, and a

          3  general support role for a lot of the efforts that

          4  you've heard about from EPA, and assisting the City

          5  as well.

          6                 We worked with EPA very quickly after

          7  the attacks to convert a number of our existing air

          8  quality monitors that we had in the particular

          9  monitoring network to measure outdoor asbestos, as

         10  we knew that was a very early issue, it was one that

         11  was recognized very soon. Not something that we

         12  normally monitor for in the outdoor air. I worked

         13  with EPA to establish the reference standards that

         14  we should use to assess that, and to convert a

         15  number of those monitors.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Pardon me, if I

         17  could just jump in for a second.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JOHNSON: Sure.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I just would

         20  like to ask people if they could just keep the noise

         21  down a little bit? We just want to make sure

         22  everyone can hear the testimony, and if there are

         23  private conversations, if you could please take them

         24  outside, that would be great.  So, quiet, please.

         25  Thank you.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            86

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL/HEALTH/LOWER MANHATTAN

          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JOHNSON: In

          3  addition to establishing an outdoor asbestos

          4  monitoring network, we expanded the existing

          5  particulate monitor networks. We added a number of

          6  fine particulate matter monitors, we added a number

          7  of real time monitors. Our monitoring network, as

          8  per the design for a long-term air quality standards

          9  is a filter-based monitoring network. We brought in

         10  some real time monitors, known as TEMs (sic), so we

         11  could get information out to the public as quickly

         12  as we possibly could and make the assessments that

         13  we needed as to the general quality the air in the

         14  New York area.

         15                 And what we've seen as a result to

         16  date, in particulate levels, both through Lower

         17  Manhattan and throughout the rest of the City, we

         18  have not seen significant increases.

         19                 Obviously in the early days there

         20  were some higher levels of particulate, since then

         21  we have seen the particulate down at what would be

         22  normal for New York City at this time of year,

         23  seasonally adjusted.

         24                 And what we've also seen is that it

         25  has been pretty much uniform throughout the City
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          2  monitoring which conforms to our understanding of

          3  particulate matter, as a regional, rather than a

          4  very localized effect.

          5                 It doesn't mean that we won't be

          6  ongoing with our efforts, and we are working with

          7  EPA to establish long-term controls on PM and PM 2

          8  1/2 in particular, as we have been for some time.

          9                 We also were involved in some of the

         10  fieldwork for the dioxin monitoring, that Kathy

         11  Callahan spoke of, and we worked with EPA and their

         12  experts at the National Exposure Research Laboratory

         13  to identify some of the elements of concern that we

         14  would be looking for for the health risk assessment

         15  the EPA is working on.

         16                 I just want to mention that an

         17  outgrowth of this issue has been an issue with the

         18  transportation conformity requirements under the

         19  Clean Air Act, and I would like to urge the

         20  Council's support for this is a priority for the

         21  State of New York. We are now before Congress

         22  seeking a very limited and restricted waiver on the

         23  planning requirements.

         24                 The Metropolitan Planning

         25  Organization that coordinates these was coordinated
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          2  in the Twin Towers, lost staff, lost information,

          3  and most importantly, the changes that we've seen

          4  throughout Lower Manhattan and through the City have

          5  changed transportation patterns, they've changed

          6  commuting, they've changed residences.

          7                 Our ability to properly assess the

          8  current emissions from the transportation sector is

          9  gone at this point. We need to rebuild the models

         10  that assess what transportation does to emissions in

         11  this City, and we need time to do that, and we can

         12  explain that in more detail, if you like. But we are

         13  before Congress now seeking a waiver on those

         14  requirements for a limited time.

         15                 I would also like to address the

         16  issue of diesel truck emissions. The State and EPA,

         17  probably in December, I believe, embarked on an

         18  effort to try to bring both particulate traps on a

         19  number of the pieces of equipment, and the ultra

         20  low-sulfur diesel fuel to the site.

         21                 We've been working on it very

         22  diligently and have found a number of roadblocks to

         23  easy implementation of that, some having to do with

         24  federal and state authority, some having to do with

         25  what we can require and what can simply be done, and
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          2  a lot having to do with the nature of the

          3  construction industry, the fact that the trucks are

          4  not necessarily fueled in New York State. We've run

          5  into a number of issues, which I'll be glad to

          6  explain in more detail later on.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Well, could

          8  you amplify?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I really have to

         10  move this forward. We've got to get through this. I

         11  understand, but we've just got to get through with

         12  the statements and when everyone is done I would ask

         13  people to try to get through their statements as

         14  quickly as possible.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I'll be asking

         16  you to amplify that when we get to questions.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JOHNSON:

         18  Absolutely.

         19                 I do want to reiterate the

         20  Department's appreciation to the Committee for

         21  providing us with this opportunity. Our commitment

         22  to Lower Manhattan does not end when the site is

         23  cleaned. We are participating in EPA's indoor air

         24  task force, we are participating on committees of

         25  the Lower Manhattan Development Corporation, and we
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          2  will be here and continuing to work with the

          3  Council.

          4                 So, thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          6  you very much.

          7                 Please identify yourself for the

          8  record, and present your testimony.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Yes,

         10  good morning, Committee Chairs, and members. I'm Bob

         11  Avaltroni, Deputy Commissioner of Environmental

         12  Compliance of the New York City Department of

         13  Environmental Protection.

         14                 I will try to be as brief as I

         15  possibly can, but we have a slide presentation that

         16  actually might answer some of your questions as we

         17  go along. I think it would be helpful, and also

         18  maybe allay some of the concerns and fears that

         19  others might have.

         20                 Again, I, as the others have

         21  suggested, appreciate the opportunity to be here

         22  today to discuss DEP's contribution to the team of

         23  City, state and federal officials who have

         24  collaborated to respond to the unique environmental

         25  consequences of the September 11th attacks on the
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          2  United States.

          3                 DEP is very proud to have played a

          4  role in monitoring and mitigating the environmental

          5  impacts of the Twin Tower attacks, particularly with

          6  regard to asbestos exposure.

          7                 As a result of our work, which I will

          8  summarize in the course of this statement, DEP

          9  participated in the collection of thousands of

         10  samples, the results of which continue to be

         11  publicly available.

         12                 The vast majority of the sampler

         13  results show that levels of contaminants are below

         14  nationally recognized standards or guidelines set to

         15  protect public health.

         16                 With the exception of workers at the

         17  Trade Center site, or workers doing asbestos

         18  clean-up that needs special protections, a wealth of

         19  publicly available information supports the

         20  conclusion that the general population of residents

         21  and workers in Down Manhattan can get on with their

         22  lives without worrying about the possibility of air

         23  quality impacts on the September 11 attacks.

         24                 Although the City and building owners

         25  are continuing to inspect and remove the last
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          2  remnants of debris from rooftops or facades, ambient

          3  air quality monitoring has for months shown air

          4  quality in Lower Manhattan to be typical for an

          5  urban environment.

          6                 Let me now explain DEP's role in the

          7  environmental response to the tragedy of September

          8  11th.

          9                 Aside from the operating City's sewer

         10  and water systems near the Trade Center, DEP's

         11  responsibilities following September 11th stem from

         12  our experience with regulating asbestos and

         13  hazardous materials.

         14                 DEP's staff, including personnel from

         15  our HAZMAT unit, were on site September 11th to

         16  perform an initial assessment of the exposures

         17  following the collapse of the Towers.

         18                 Under the direction of OEM, and in

         19  coordination with other government agencies, DEP

         20  began to clean up streets, sidewalks, in public

         21  areas in lower Manhattan.

         22                 Prior to the reopening of streets,

         23  DEP performed clearance sampling to demonstrate that

         24  the levels of asbestos were below threshold levels

         25  of concern.
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          2                 Along with other agencies here with

          3  me this morning, DEP staff participated in daily

          4  meetings to discuss clean-up activities and sampling

          5  results.

          6                 Very early on the decision was made

          7  that the clean-up with private property would remain

          8  the responsibility of private property owners,

          9  although the City would provide as much guidance and

         10  oversight as possible.

         11                 Before allowing occupants into any

         12  residential or commercial buildings near the Trade

         13  Center site, the City's various agencies required

         14  building owners to take these steps:

         15                 - assess the building's structural

         16  strength and stability using qualified

         17  professionals.

         18                 - restore gas and electric service.

         19                 - restore building water service,

         20  including flushing, refilling and cleaning roof

         21  tanks where necessary.

         22                 - assess the presence of hazard

         23  materials such as asbestos and remediate as required

         24  under applicable guidelines.

         25                 While property owners were
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          2  accomplishing these tasks, DEP and its sister

          3  agencies, coordinated by the Office of Emergency

          4  Management, assumed responsibility for cleaning

          5  streets, sidewalks and common areas so that there

          6  was a safe outdoor environment to reach the

          7  buildings for contractors and workers who were

          8  retained by owners and managers to effect all

          9  necessary exterior and interior clean-up of private

         10  buildings.

         11                 To assist property owners, DEP

         12  engaged in the following tasks among others:

         13                 - we developed and distributed

         14  advisories to building owners and occupants.

         15                 - we provided telephone consultation

         16  to building owners, contractors, consultants and

         17  tenants related to asbestos clean-up.

         18                 - we performed site inspections and

         19  conducted building surveys.

         20                 - we reviewed the scopes of work for

         21  clean-up of asbestos-containing material.

         22                 - we developed emergency

         23  certification procedures and offered daily

         24  certification exams to ensure properly trained and

         25  qualified workforce was available.
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          2                 - and we also established a separate

          3  12-hour hot line for asbestos-related inquiries, in

          4  addition to our 24-hour 718 DEP HELP line, which is

          5  continuously available to the public.

          6                 As general guidance to Lower

          7  Manhattan residents, the Department of Health

          8  developed a fact sheet "Recommendations for People

          9  Re-Occupying Commercial Buildings and Residents

         10  Re-Entering Their Homes."

         11                 This fact sheet, along with others on

         12  related topics, was distributed very widely in Lower

         13  Manhattan.

         14                 These fact sheets offered general

         15  information on air quality issues, as well as

         16  practical "how to" information to provide a save

         17  environment.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Do you by

         19  chance have a copy of that with you --

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Yes.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: The fact

         22  sheet?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: We can

         24  certainly provide that to you, but it should be in

         25  what we would give to you.
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          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Thanks.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: I'm

          4  trying to cut through the other issues.

          5                 As you may know, there is no

          6  established standard for asbestos in outdoor air.

          7  Unlike carbon monoxide, nitrogen oxides and other

          8  gases whose presence in outside air is regulated

          9  under the Clean Air Act, asbestos is a

         10  once-prevalent building material; previous work at

         11  standard-setting has focused on establishing

         12  sampling methodologies and safe levels for asbestos

         13  within buildings.

         14                 Let me briefly explain our sampling

         15  methodology. The samples are collected on filters

         16  and examined under Phase Contrast Microscopy, or

         17  PCM, utilizing a specific method developed by the

         18  National Institutes for Occupational Safety and

         19  Health.

         20                 The PCM analysis counts all fibrous

         21  particles, including asbestos. PCM sample results

         22  are compared to the standard used by New York City

         23  to determine whether to allow public access to an

         24  area where an asbestos-abatement project had been

         25  concluded.
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          2                 This standard is 0.01 fibers per

          3  cubic centimeter. It is usually referred to as a

          4  "clearance standard," meaning that a work-site has

          5  been "cleared" for re-entry if the air meets this

          6  standard.

          7                 Samples found to be above the PCM

          8  standard were reexamined using TEM. The TEM analysis

          9  identifies the type of particles collected. TEM

         10  results were compared to the clearance standard for

         11  indoor air in schools after an asbestos abatement

         12  project. This standard is 70 structures of asbestos

         13  per square millimeter.

         14                 The standard was established pursuant

         15  to the federal guidelines known as AHERA. This is a

         16  very stringent standard, as I will again articulate,

         17  because we wanted to make sure we were stringent and

         18  overly cautious before anyone reoccupied.

         19                 The AHERA standard is designated to

         20  tell the public and regulated community what level

         21  of asbestos considers safe in their air breathed by

         22  children indoors during a school day.

         23                 Obviously it is a very stringent

         24  standard, as I suggested, especially when used to

         25  evaluate adult exposure in an outdoor environment.
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          2                 I will now go to the slides that I

          3  suggested.

          4                 To put things in perspective, these

          5  are eight-hour air samples that were conducted

          6  outside of schools, including some of the schools

          7  that you've mentioned before.

          8                 During the time period of 10/4 to

          9  10/18 you can see 60 samples were taken. 10/19 to

         10  ongoing with TEM samples, 556 samples through March

         11  6th. All of the sample results are within acceptable

         12  levels.

         13                 That should be reassuring to the

         14  public.

         15                 I want to go back to my first slide,

         16  because this might put things in better perspective.

         17                 With respect to the questions that

         18  you've asked with regard to indoor air, and I

         19  understand those concerns, I think there is a

         20  misnomer out there with many people are concerned

         21  because they think nothing has been done.

         22                 We have received bulk samples, almost

         23  2,000 bulk samples, of which 128 have been positive,

         24  obviously any time we found something positive, we

         25  had an abatement done.
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          2                 With regard to air samples, almost

          3  121,000 air samples have been collected. Under the

          4  PCM levels you see 75,275, which I suggested before.

          5  As we get to the bottom line we have 108 TEM samples

          6  that resulted, that were positive.

          7                 Okay, we can go to the second slide,

          8  please. I'm going out of order.

          9                 In one sampling station, each of the

         10  five boroughs was also imposed, because as someone

         11  had suggested before, it was important that everyone

         12  know, not only Downtown Manhattan, it was important

         13  that everyone know what was happening throughout the

         14  City. So, we installed one in each of five boroughs,

         15  from 9/14 to 10/12 to test the air.

         16                 Of those 408 samples, all sample

         17  results were within acceptable levels.

         18                 Okay, we can go to, I guess four. I

         19  did three already.

         20                 The next slide summarizes the results

         21  of the entire program. I think this is very

         22  important for everyone to look at, and the public to

         23  look at as well.

         24                 We have 3,540 samples collected from

         25  a network of stations around Ground Zero. We have
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          2  616 samples collected in front of the four schools.

          3  We have 408 samples collected from the outer

          4  boroughs. There's a total of 4,564 samples taken.

          5  Only nine samples were above the standard, and I can

          6  say that of those nine samples, we have been, I

          7  think to the entire population of those nine

          8  buildings, to make sure that no one reoccupied,

          9  because that went up to September 24th, the last

         10  time there was a spike, there was no reoccupancy to

         11  the best of my knowledge to any of those buildings

         12  when we had a high rate.

         13                 Next slide, please.

         14                 This is a sampling location. I'm

         15  going to go off my text. We had 37 monitors

         16  throughout the area, and that excludes what I

         17  suggested we did in the outer boroughs, as well as

         18  around the perimeter of the schools. So, again, this

         19  shows a wide variety of air sampling that was going

         20  on and is ongoing to date.

         21                 Can we go to the next, please?

         22                 Building inspections with regard to

         23  exterior, exterior inspections: there were 452

         24  buildings described in an area that encompasses

         25  north Chambers Street, down through Battery Place, I
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          2  believe Pearl Street to the East and the River to

          3  the extreme west.

          4                 We have looked at all 452 buildings.

          5  We've acknowledged that the buildings were varying

          6  degree of debris present, 211 buildings have that at

          7  rooftops and facades.

          8                 Our outreach again, to try to get

          9  people to call us, resulted in 75 calls coming

         10  through our DEP Help Line.

         11                 Obviously Commissioner Sheirer talked

         12  about a Help Line to be established, which we

         13  support obviously, and the Mayor has shown his

         14  vision on how to have a public outreach program that

         15  goes separate and apart and further on than we have

         16  already to date.

         17                 So, those complaints have been

         18  answered, 75 have been responded to, we have 51

         19  complaints resolved, and the reason we have not

         20  gotten the others resolved is that we are making

         21  appointments to go into areas and what have you at

         22  the citizen's request and we're working with them.

         23                 We had one violation issued, and we

         24  had one clean-up ordered that was conducted and

         25  taken care of.
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          2                 Next slide, please. This, again, puts

          3  everything in perspective with regard to our people

          4  walking the streets of the areas I've suggested in

          5  Manhattan.

          6                 The green indicates every building

          7  that we've been to. The orange are buildings that we

          8  have not been able to get access to because these

          9  buildings are just closed and not open for business.

         10                 We will continue, as Commissioner

         11  Sheirer suggested before to find a way to try to

         12  deal with those situations, as well.

         13                 This is a typical rooftop, and I

         14  think it's important for us to see. The amount of

         15  debris on this rooftop, and it is basically

         16  representative of the survey that we have taken, is

         17  a very minimal amount of caked debris, if you will.

         18  We are moving ahead with the building owners, and

         19  also, as mentioned before, we are meeting with the

         20  EPA staff and our colleagues here, we've done a

         21  magnificent job, to find a way to move this along

         22  even faster than we have in the past, and we were

         23  committed to do that.

         24                 This is another rooftop again, the

         25  type of debris. Again, I'm attempting to allay the
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          2  concerns and fears that have been put out there, and

          3  we are responsive and willing to deal with any

          4  issue, but I think the public needs to know they are

          5  not at risk, from our perspective.

          6                 We can move on, this is another

          7  building top, we can move on to the conclusion.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Please

          9  summarize.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Yes.

         11                 In summary, I think a great deal has

         12  been done to this point in time, and we need to do

         13  more. We recognize the Council, the Mayor

         14  recognizes, and has obviously committed. We will

         15  work with our colleagues to make this place a place

         16  where people feel good about being, and we will

         17  rebuild downtown Manhattan.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         19  Commissioner. Thank you very much.

         20                 I would like to indicate that we are

         21  joined by Council Member Bill DeBlasio from

         22  Brooklyn, and I would like to ask the next witness

         23  to identify herself and make her statement.

         24                 I would also like to ask once again

         25  people who are having private conversations, to keep

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            104

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL/HEALTH/LOWER MANHATTAN

          2  the conversation to a minimum, or if you have to

          3  have these conversations, please have them outside,

          4  out of respect to the witnesses and those who wish

          5  to hear the testimony.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 Please proceed.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: Good

          9  morning. Thank you, again. My name is Dr. Jessica

         10  Leighton. I am the Assistant Commissioner --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right into the

         12  microphone.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: I am

         14  the Assistant Commissioner for environmental risk

         15  assessment at the New York City Department of

         16  Health, and I'm going to try to make my presentation

         17  a little shorter than it is. But I will be skipping

         18  are some of the background scientific issues, and if

         19  you do want me to talk about that let me know,

         20  because I think there's been a lot of

         21  misunderstanding about what substances relate to

         22  what health affects. So, you do have it in righting,

         23  I believe, and I will skip it, but if you do want me

         24  to elaborate on it, let me know.

         25                 Some New Yorkers, especially those
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          2  who live in, work in or visit Lower Manhattan

          3  continue to be concerned about potential health

          4  impacts of the environmental conditions that

          5  resulted from the disaster, and particularly about

          6  air quality.

          7                 The return of the children to their

          8  schools was extensively debated. When I went to the

          9  reopening of PS 234, which is the school that my

         10  daughter attends, the feeling of so many of us was

         11  real relief and joy. It just felt really good to be

         12  rebuilding our community.

         13                 Still, there are concerns that remain

         14  in our community, and these need to be addressed.

         15                 In the past testimony that I've given

         16  here, I reviewed the Health Department's

         17  multi-faceted role in overseeing and coordinating

         18  many health-related issues, including initial

         19  coordination of worker protection, our lead role in

         20  coordinating environmental sampling, development of

         21  materials and presentations to communicate risks to

         22  the public, surveillance of injuries related to the

         23  attack and to worker injuries, sanitary inspections

         24  and consultation to the Board of Education.

         25                 As you know, the attack resulted in
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          2  the exposure of many individuals to large amounts of

          3  smoke, dust, and airborne substances. The release of

          4  potential contaminants during and after the collapse

          5  was a primary public health concern from the

          6  beginning, and air monitoring was established

          7  immediately and still continues, and these are the

          8  substances, some of the substances that have been

          9  monitored.

         10                 This map shows the many sampling

         11  sites in the area, both EPA, DEP, DEC. As long as

         12  work continues, dust remains a potential problem.

         13  The suppression of dust and debris downtown is an

         14  ongoing activity. Air monitoring continues in order

         15  to monitor the dust suppression activities that are

         16  occurring.

         17                 But it's also important that we as

         18  individuals in the community use proper cleaning

         19  methods to ensure that the dust is controlled.

         20                 This is where I started to talk,

         21  there are a number of issues that one really needs

         22  to consider when we try to look at the likelihood of

         23  health effects from an exposure, but I'll just skip

         24  over some of these.

         25                 We can go to the standards. Standards
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          2  or regulatory levels are not available for all

          3  environmental contaminants, especially in indoor

          4  air.

          5                 Environmental standards that do exist

          6  are designed to build in large margins of safety.

          7  Different standards are applied to different

          8  situations. We know that the World Trade Center

          9  disaster is an unprecedented event. The existing

         10  environmental standards available were not developed

         11  to be used for such events.

         12                 For the most part we used the

         13  standards that were available to us at the time, but

         14  this emergency circumstance was not the time to

         15  create new standards, or second guess the standards

         16  that we currently use. It was we needed to act right

         17  away, and we could not start making up new standards

         18  on the spot.

         19                 I just wanted to note that several

         20  weeks ago Senator Clinton, recognizing the need for

         21  emergency protocols to address environmental issues

         22  called for the development of a new emergency

         23  protocol around environmental health, and I think

         24  that we all would very much support that type of

         25  protocol.
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          2                 Since the Environmental Protection

          3  Committee's previous hearing on the subject on

          4  November 1st of last year, the Health Department has

          5  continued to address the concerns of residents in

          6  Lower Manhattan, and what we've done since around

          7  November 1st, conducted a needs assessment of 414

          8  residents in Lower Manhattan. We've done inspection

          9  of hand wash and truck wash stations, conducted air

         10  sampling in residential buildings, conducted

         11  community outreach and provided information to the

         12  community. We've completed an assessment of

         13  Stuyvesant High School students. In the near future

         14  we hope to receive additional funding to support

         15  mental health needs through Project Liberty.

         16                 Finally, we are continuing efforts to

         17  develop a registry of workers and residents in the

         18  community. And I'm going to give you some details

         19  about each of these.

         20                 The needs assessment of residents in

         21  Lower Manhattan, which was conducted in October,

         22  showed that about 50 percent of those surveyed

         23  experienced physical symptoms related to the

         24  attacks, such as nose, throat and eye irritations,

         25  and this was from the burning fires, from the dust
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          2  that existed.

          3                 Many people interviewed had concerns

          4  about air quality. In addition, nearly 40 percent of

          5  those interviewed reported symptoms that were

          6  suggestive of post traumatic stress disorder.

          7                 At that time, less than a third of

          8  those interviewed had received counseling.

          9                 The Health Department has also

         10  created an interoffice team that's enforcing an

         11  October 19th, 2001 DOH Commissioner's order that

         12  requires workers and vehicles to thoroughly wash

         13  before leaving the site. And the goal of this order

         14  is to ensure that dust and debris from the site does

         15  not migrate off the site onto the City streets and

         16  the sidewalks or into vehicles and homes of workers.

         17                 Between 200 and 300 notices of

         18  violation have been issued.

         19                 Last November and December, the

         20  Department of Health, in collaboration with ATSDR,

         21  which is the federal Agency for Toxic Substances and

         22  Disease Registry, and with assistance from all the

         23  agencies at this table, conducted an environmental

         24  sampling project in 30 buildings in Lower Manhattan,

         25  and the purpose of this sampling was to obtain
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          2  information to determine if residents are being

          3  exposed to concentrations of materials in their

          4  homes that may be a public health concern, and to

          5  communicate information on the potential health

          6  impact of the sampling results.

          7                 These are the sites where the 30

          8  indoor environmental sampling tests were conducted,

          9  and as you can see, I think you can see, they are

         10  pretty well distributed all around the site.

         11                 We also did sampling in four

         12  buildings above 59th Street, because there's a

         13  certain level of background of substances that may

         14  occur in apartments and we needed to know that to

         15  see if apartments down here were any different from

         16  normal in New York City. This is an urban area, we

         17  do have a lot of contaminants in our environment.

         18                 The substances that are being

         19  analyzed include common building components that

         20  could have short-term or long-term health effects

         21  and both air and dust were sampled.

         22                 To date, both air and dust results

         23  are available for asbestos and dust results are

         24  available for fiberglass.

         25                 The results of the asbestos testing
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          2  found no levels of asbestos fibers were detected

          3  above the New York City reoccupancy standard for

          4  asbestos, and asbestos was detected in 21 out of 98

          5  dust samples, but only two of these were at levels

          6  that required asbestos abatement, and these two

          7  samples that required asbestos abatement were both

          8  outdoor samples, actually, and the abatement was

          9  conducted.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: I'm sorry. Did

         11  you indicate where those samples were taken?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

         13  These two outdoor samples?

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: No, no. The

         15  98. Is there some chart or something which shows

         16  where they were taken?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON: I'm

         18  not sure if I'm going to answer your question, but

         19  there were two apartments done in each of the 30

         20  buildings.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Two

         22  apartments, okay.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

         24  There was one common space in each of the 30

         25  buildings, where we could forget it, and there was
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          2  an outdoor sample taken in front of the buildings,

          3  in front of the 30 buildings basically.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay, thank

          5  you.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:

          7  Since September, the Health Department -- oh, okay

          8  -- while not raising any great level of concerns,

          9  studies did suggest that appropriate cleaning

         10  methods should continue to be used.

         11                 Since September, the Health

         12  Department has disseminated advisories and fact

         13  sheets containing cleaning recommendations, and the

         14  basic message of these advisories is that residents

         15  of Manhattan should, of Lower Manhattan, should

         16  continue to clean frequently.

         17                 Beginning in the first weeks after

         18  September 11th, the Department prepared numerous

         19  fact sheets for the community. Upwards of 30 staff

         20  distributed fact sheets door-to-door at this time,

         21  and more than 10,000 pieces of literature have been

         22  disseminated.

         23                 The Department has also conducted

         24  more than 30 meetings and presentations around the

         25  community in Lower Manhattan.
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          2                 The Health Department also provided

          3  support to the Board of Education in its efforts to

          4  assess health complaints reported by Stuyvesant High

          5  School students, and they were the first group of

          6  students, if you remember, to return to the school

          7  after the disaster.

          8                 Our analysis has shown that

          9  Stuyvesant students who returned to their school on

         10  October 19th, reported complaints that were similar

         11  to a lot of us in Lower Manhattan, that a lot of us

         12  in Lower Manhattan were feeling.

         13                 These students reported at least

         14  twice as many health complaints in October and

         15  November of 2001, as they did in the same months in

         16  the three previous years.

         17                 We have recently analyzed complaints

         18  in December and January, and as expected, since the

         19  fires subsided and were extinguished in December,

         20  the numbers of complaints have returned to those

         21  seen in the '98/'99 school year.

         22                 The Health Department has also been

         23  working with ATSDR and CDC, which is the Centers for

         24  Disease Control and Prevention, to develop a

         25  protocol for World Trade Center Registry that would
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          2  enable scientists to evaluate long-term health

          3  affects as objectively and comprehensively as

          4  possible.

          5                 We anticipate and hope that this

          6  registry will soon be funded. The registry would

          7  identify and register workers, occupants of affected

          8  buildings, and people who live or work or attend

          9  school in the downtown community.

         10                 Finally, mental health is an ongoing

         11  need. Together with the City Department of Mental

         12  Health, we will continue to promote Project Liberty,

         13  which is a statewide disaster recovery initiative

         14  that offers free crisis counseling, education and

         15  referral services.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         18  you very much. Sorry, can't do it. Thanks for

         19  understanding. I appreciate that.

         20                 Next witness, please identify

         21  yourself for the record and commence your testimony.

         22  Thank you.

         23                 MS. CLARKE: I'm Patricia Clarke. I'm

         24  Regional Administrator for the U.S. Department of

         25  Labor, OSHA, in New York, and I thank you for the
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          2  opportunity to present what OSHA's role has been in

          3  this endeavor.

          4                 Our mission is to address safe and

          5  healthful working conditions for the employees of

          6  this country. Our jurisdiction is for the private

          7  sector employers, and employees and the federal

          8  agencies. In New York State we do have a state plan

          9  partner that we help fund, coverage for the public

         10  sector as well.

         11                 Our role at the World Trade Center,

         12  and I want to echo my colleagues at the table to

         13  speak to the unprecedented cooperation and

         14  commitment I think, and coordination, among all of

         15  the agencies that have worked together on our

         16  response to this unprecedented disaster.

         17                 Since 9/11 we've been on-site in a

         18  role under the Federal Response Plan, as Ms.

         19  Callahan mentioned. President Bush activated that

         20  plan and OSHA is an agency that provides support

         21  under them.

         22                 In that role we provide advice and

         23  technical assistance to the other federal, state and

         24  local agencies, as well as to the contractors and

         25  the employees and their representatives.
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          2                 We basically took a three-prong

          3  approach here. We started out immediately jumping

          4  into the issue of respiratory protection, that was a

          5  very early concern, and I'll speak more to that

          6  later on.

          7                 Another area that we placed heavy

          8  emphasis was exposure, industrial hygiene sampling.

          9  Initially joining with EPA in working in the

         10  Financial District in order to try to clear that

         11  area so that the market could resume to get workers

         12  back there, but to get them back safely, we started

         13  in that area.

         14                 Later on we moved toward the site and

         15  have been doing extensive exposure sampling and we

         16  still do that today, 24/7.

         17                 The third area that we've been

         18  working on is one that I know is sort of outside the

         19  purview of these committees, but I think it is

         20  important to mention, that's the safety aspects.

         21                 This work site is one where there are

         22  potential safety hazards, as well as health hazards,

         23  and they are probably of a magnitude that we've

         24  never seen anywhere else in the world to date. And,

         25  so, one of our very important responsibilities is to
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          2  do safety monitoring. We're doing that again on a

          3  24/7 basis. This just happens to be one of our crane

          4  teams working in concert with the other entities at

          5  the site in order to try to make sure that the

          6  workers are protected. We certainly don't want to

          7  lose any more lives at the site.

          8                 Now, as far as enforcement goes, I

          9  mentioned that with regard to the recovery project,

         10  we are providing counsel assistance, technical

         11  assistance, under the Federal Response Plan.

         12                 We are doing some enforcement under

         13  our law --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Excuse me, if I

         15  could, I just want to just in for a second.

         16                 I really have to ask people to be

         17  quiet. I must insist that people be quite while the

         18  witness is testifying, I would like to ask the

         19  sergeants to please enforce quiet in the room.

         20                 Thank you. I apologize.

         21                 MS. CLARKE: Thank you.

         22                 With regard to enforcement, outside

         23  the project area we have initiated enforcement

         24  activities, as early as the beginning of October. We

         25  began doing inspections that were not connected with
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          2  the recovery operation in the area around the site.

          3                 We have in January actually started

          4  local emphasis programs, specifically to deal with

          5  the clean-up operations that were going on around

          6  the site again, inside the buildings.

          7                 We have done some preliminary

          8  sampling inside buildings as early as September on

          9  the site, some of the surrounding buildings in the

         10  World Financial Center and some other areas around

         11  there, as well.

         12                 The Local Emphasis Program covers the

         13  area from on the North Chambers, on the East

         14  Broadway, south to Rector and west to the Hudson

         15  River. That's about 34 buildings that we've

         16  identified that experienced damage in which we would

         17  expect would be having the need for the heaviest

         18  clean-up and reconstruction in that area. And so far

         19  we visited 21 sites and we've conducted 11 health

         20  and 19 safety inspections at those sites.

         21                 What we've seen is that, while the

         22  clean-up is underway, we take samples and we take

         23  airborne samples, as well as bulk samples. We do and

         24  are analyzing the dust to determine what is in it,

         25  whether there is asbestos or other contaminants, but
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          2  we're also very concerned and want to take airborne

          3  samples in order to assure that we know what the

          4  actual exposure is to the workers that are doing the

          5  clean-up operations.

          6                 To date we have not had any actually

          7  detectable levels of asbestos in any of those

          8  samples, which is very good news.

          9                 We've done some other things with

         10  regard to this. We obviously always take complaints.

         11  We've done a very few number of complaint

         12  inspections because we have received a very few

         13  number.

         14                 I did post our 800 number, and that

         15  can be used by anyone to report a workplace issue

         16  and we will then do an inspection.

         17                 We've also done some outreach in this

         18  area. We put out a poster in both English and

         19  Spanish to explain in very plain language our

         20  inspection process so that if people do have

         21  concerns they know that there is some place to go

         22  for some help.

         23                 We've also posted that around the

         24  site, and we've handed it out at one of the medical

         25  vans that was brought in actually by NYCOSH to do
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          2  some environmental testing, hoping that perhaps the

          3  people who came to them would see that and take

          4  advantage of that.

          5                 As far as respiratory protection, we

          6  have consistently, along with our sister agencies,

          7  recommended that workers at the site need to use

          8  appropriate respiratory protection, that's from day

          9  one.

         10                 We have realized that in this kind of

         11  situation with the very changing environment, with

         12  massive amounts of debris being moved constantly,

         13  conditions are changing, it is absolutely necessary

         14  for those workers to be protected, that we cannot

         15  assure that one operation will be the same from

         16  day-to-day, or even hour-to-hour.

         17                 In concert with our other agency,

         18  sister agencies, we've all agreed upon a particular

         19  type of respiratory protection. In general it's a

         20  half mass with triple combination cartridges,

         21  organic vapor, acid gases, and the P100 HEPA filter,

         22  that particular type of filter should protect

         23  against both asbestos and any other particulate

         24  situations that would be encountered there.

         25                 We've continued --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Please

          3  summarize, I'm sorry.

          4                 MS. CLARKE: Okay, I'm sorry.

          5                 Okay, well, let's go to, the next one

          6  is a picture. We're doing quantitative fit testing.

          7  That was a concern that, is this the right

          8  respirator and are they protected enough. We are

          9  doing quantitative fit testing on the site.

         10                 This just shows the type of gear that

         11  we believe the workers should wear.

         12                 I want to make clear, our standards

         13  are work worker exposure, others versus a lifetime

         14  exposure. A little bit different.

         15                 As far as what we've been doing, I

         16  told you we started out very early on of the

         17  Financial District. We've taken nearly 5,000

         18  samples, individual samples, and ours are tried to

         19  determine worker exposure so they are personal air

         20  samples. There is a pump with a filter media that

         21  collects it over a period of time. We've sampled for

         22  79 different substances, over 19,000 different

         23  analyses.

         24                 As far as dust, all the asbestos over

         25  11,000 are well below our PEL. Most of them are in
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          2  the none detected or trace levels.

          3                 As far as total dust, we have found a

          4  few that have been over our PEL again. That's why we

          5  want the people to wear the respirators. Respirable

          6  silica, a number of those have been in excess, and,

          7  again, that would be appropriate for the respiratory

          8  protection.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Please

         10  summarize.

         11                 MS. CLARKE: All right, well, we can

         12  just go through. We've done fiberglass, that was an

         13  issue with the last Council meet, had anyone done

         14  it. We've done it, and as you can see, over 900

         15  samples, not a problem. We've done extensive metals.

         16  Most of them are not a problem. Very small number,

         17  probably less than five percent over. This shows you

         18  what one of those operations would look like.

         19                 Mercury. I raise this because there's

         20  been a lot of media coverage about that. You can see

         21  that there's been over 224 air samples, which should

         22  give you an idea on exposure. No problems.

         23                 We did look at the plumes from the

         24  fires, they're out now, so hopefully that's no

         25  longer a major issue.
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          2                 And just to make sure that no one is

          3  forgetting Staten Island, we are doing sampling

          4  there as well. And we do communicate the

          5  information, we have a web site, we provide it back

          6  to the employees who have actually been sampled,

          7  over 1,000 of those, almost 2,000 have been

          8  notified. And the bottom line is that we feel that

          9  it's important that we continue to characterize

         10  worker exposure, they need to wear the respirators,

         11  and we are pushing forward on this. We feel it's

         12  important no one else is killed or hurt at the site,

         13  and, so, we have a partnership to try to reinforce

         14  that.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

         17  much, I appreciate it. I just would like to let

         18  everyone know that the government panel has only one

         19  more witness to give what I hope will be a brief

         20  statement. It was originally explained to me that

         21  they wouldn't be, you know, individual statements

         22  from each of the agencies, it would be one omnibus

         23  statement or one from each level of government, but,

         24  you know, I think we're better for hearing all of

         25  the, you know, detail but we do have to get to the
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          2  questions, and, so, to the extent that our last

          3  witness can, you know, hit the salient points of his

          4  testimony and let us get to questioning, that would

          5  be most welcome.

          6                 So, the last government panel

          7  witness, if you could identify yourself and deliver

          8  your testimony?

          9                 MR. ADAMS: Yes. I'm Robert Adams. I'm

         10  the Director of Environmental Health and Safety

         11  Services for the Department of Design and

         12  Construction. And for the record, because it came up

         13  yesterday, I am a Certified Industrial Hygienist and

         14  a Certified Safety Professional.

         15                 Just to give you a quick background,

         16  our agency is in charge of the debris clean-up

         17  operation, and we have been in that role since 9/11.

         18  The first task to assist the Fired Department with

         19  the recovery operations by bringing heavy equipment

         20  down to the site and subsequently we took charge of

         21  that clean-up operation, in conjunction with OEM and

         22  Coincident Command with the Fire Department of New

         23  York.

         24                 Personally, I've been on the site

         25  since September 13th, day-in, day-out, 24/7 in a
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          2  couple of cases, and I'll be there til the very end.

          3                 You can go to the next slide. Just to

          4  quickly reiterate, my function is both in terms of

          5  the agency to look at the operations of the

          6  contractors and the work that we're doing, and to

          7  make sure that we've followed all the safety

          8  protocols and procedures. We were very actively

          9  involved with many agencies at the very beginning to

         10  develop safety zones, establish protective equipment

         11  requirements, and this has been a strong commitment

         12  from the highest levels of the agency.

         13                 You have heard many of the things

         14  that we've talked about. One of the key things we

         15  developed initially was an incident, accident

         16  prevention plan. That was actually submitted for the

         17  first time on the 14th of September. We've since

         18  gone through and developed safety plans.

         19                 This is our current safety plan for

         20  the site, it was just revised just a few weeks ago

         21  because the conditions of the site have changed

         22  dramatically since the very beginning.

         23                 By the way, I wanted to recognize

         24  that there was an active safety committee that's

         25  involved that participates, the labor unions, the
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          2  trade organizations for the contractors, contractors

          3  management, and the agencies who are involved in

          4  there, it's a very active group.

          5                 Currently our project is being

          6  managed by a coalition of contractors, Bovis/AMEC

          7  Alliance. They are one of the -- or two of the four

          8  original prime contractors that we hired for the

          9  job. They formed a partnership and are now managing

         10  that project under the supervision of the Department

         11  of Design and Construction.

         12                 Next slide. We have a very aggressive

         13  program of worker training. Any worker that comes on

         14  the site must receive training. I have one of the

         15  orange training badges here, and we've trained over

         16  2,000 workers to all about the safety, health and

         17  environmental issues of the site.

         18                 We have an ongoing communications

         19  process through various safety bulletins. Also some

         20  that are issued by a group called the construction

         21  industry partnership, which is a coalition of trade

         22  organizations and contractors.

         23                 You can go to the next slide. I

         24  mentioned the Safety Plan, that's our primary

         25  enforcement vehicle. People who do not follow the
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          2  safety plan are asked to leave the site. We have

          3  removed workers, we have removed foremen, we've

          4  removed supervisors, we even removed one safety

          5  officer for failing to follow the requirements and

          6  guidelines of the safety plan. And there's also a

          7  penalty system now where contractors are being

          8  penalized if they fail to comply with the safety

          9  requirements.

         10                 Next slide, please. In conjunction

         11  with OSHA, we also have a safety consultant on-hand,

         12  Liberty Mutual, who has been helping us with worker

         13  monitoring as well. So, you've heard a lot of

         14  numbers of samples. We probably have tens of

         15  thousands of samples, far more than any site I've

         16  ever worked on, and I've worked on Superfund sites.

         17  And we've had well over 90 percent of those samples

         18  that have come back, they're well within what OSHA

         19  would establish as a permissible exposure limit, as

         20  well as more restrictive standards established by

         21  the American Conference of Governmental Industrial

         22  Hygienists.

         23                 Let me go one step further. We also

         24  do a shift reduction on our results. This is because

         25  many of the workers who are on site are working 12
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          2  hours a day, as opposed to the normal eight-hour day

          3  that most people do. If I shift adjusting these to

          4  take into account the shorter recovery period, we

          5  are actually applying even more conservative

          6  standards to the data that we are getting. But,

          7  still, we do require the use of the respiratory

          8  protection, even with numbers like this.

          9                 We also get involved with the other

         10  public health agencies, Department of Health, New

         11  York State DEC, USEPA, and the New York City DEP.

         12  They provide us information and we use that

         13  information to make decisions based on the data that

         14  we are receiving.

         15                 You can go to the next slide. We also

         16  have our own monitors set up. We have a perimeter

         17  site monitoring program set up, we have eight

         18  monitors actually at the perimeter of the

         19  construction zone. This is a picture of one of them

         20  on Liberty Street.

         21                 And we get monitoring date, if you go

         22  to the next slide, that looks something like this.

         23  That red line up at the very top is the 150

         24  microgram per cubic meter, that's a national ambient

         25  air quality standard for particulates, PM 10 or the
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          2  coarse fine particulates.

          3                 As you can see by the data, this is a

          4  little bit old here. January 27th to February 2nd,

          5  we're well below that standard. And this is right at

          6  the site perimeter, which is one of the primary

          7  areas where you would be generating dust.

          8                 We can go to the next slide, please.

          9  Dust suppression has been an ongoing problem almost

         10  since day one. We've recognized the need to do it.

         11  Right from the very beginning we made efforts to

         12  start on dust suppression. We brought in a

         13  contractor to do dust suppression. We made

         14  contractors responsible for dust suppression, and if

         15  they fail to follow it out, we shut them down, and

         16  we have done that on a couple of occasions. And

         17  also, they're required to talk to vehicles. These

         18  are required, and they're also enforced, because

         19  there are also laws under New York State Department

         20  of Environmental Conservation.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Excuse me. Do

         22  you have a copy of that dust suppression plan with

         23  you?

         24                 MR. ADAMS: I could get you a copy.

         25  It's actually in this.
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          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Is that it?

          3                 MR. ADAMS: It's in the manual, I

          4  could give you a copy of it.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON GERSON: Okay. Please,

          6  thank you.

          7                 MR. ADAMS: Not a problem.

          8                 This is just some of the techniques

          9  that we've used. We have water trucks. We have

         10  special spreader bars to help spread out, mist down.

         11  This is not as critical as it once was now because

         12  we're really down below grade, there's very few

         13  above grade operations right now.

         14                 Go to the next slide, please. One of

         15  the problems that we had with washdown was because

         16  of the winter conditions. The wetting down the

         17  trucks, you could have frozen water lines, so the

         18  EPA installed three winterized washdown stations

         19  that hit the trucks in all directions, wheels, every

         20  truck must go through, and if trucks are not going

         21  through, please report them to us, because they have

         22  to, they have to go through that washdown station.

         23                 Next slide, please. We also

         24  instituted a program, because there was a concern up

         25  at the pier. We also instituted a program to wash

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            131

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL/HEALTH/LOWER MANHATTAN

          2  the wheels as the trucks pull out, they've emptied

          3  their loads, to wash down the trucks as they leave

          4  to go back to the site to pick up more debris.

          5                 Next slide, please. Questions have

          6  been raised about containerizing the debris. I

          7  wanted to address this because it was a

          8  recommendation previously.

          9                 Quite frankly, there was really no

         10  viable alternative to doing this originally. There

         11  was no container designed for this kind of debris,

         12  the type that we're talking out.

         13                 We would have had to design them, had

         14  them specially built, shipped to the site. This is a

         15  very long-term process.

         16                 So, we instituted the standard dust

         17  control measures that have been used in many, many

         18  sites, keeping the drop loads as close to the bed of

         19  the dump truck as possible, using water, tarping the

         20  loads an washing the wheels and the undercarriages.

         21                 Next slide, please. All of the trucks

         22  that go to Pier 25 have a global positioning system

         23  installed in them. This allows us to track the

         24  vehicles from when they leave the site to the time

         25  they arrive at the site.
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          2                 This is done for efficiency. It also

          3  allows us to track if a vehicle has been idling too

          4  long, and also, it prevents people who maybe are

          5  deviating from the route, or may do unauthorized

          6  dumping.

          7                 Right now we are only sending 1,400

          8  loads a week to the barge. We were at a peak of

          9  about 6,000 loads a week, and as you can imagine,

         10  we're getting close to the end here. This number is

         11  going to decrease, it's about a 25 percent reduction

         12  from where we were at our peak.

         13                 Next slide. We were using Pier 6 at

         14  one time, and I know a lot of questions came up

         15  about should we use Pier 6. Well, Pier 6 was too

         16  small. Couldn't even handle the debris. There was no

         17  room to handle debris, so we had to use Pier 25, and

         18  we were sending so few loads to Pier 6 and Pier 25

         19  was easily able to handle it because of the number

         20  of the decrease in the number of loads going to the

         21  pier, that we shut down Pier 6 now and we are using

         22  Pier 25 exclusively. There's no direct trucking of

         23  debris to Staten Island at this time also.

         24                 Next slide. We have monitoring in

         25  place. Actually, DDC has it's own monitors at
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          2  Stuyvesant, right adjacent to the Pier. We've been

          3  monitoring for asbestos using the TEM approach. We

          4  have not detected any asbestos structures in any of

          5  that monitoring since November the 18th, and none of

          6  the samplers that we set up had detected asbestos

          7  above the 70 structures per square millimeter.

          8                 We also get EPA monitoring data. They

          9  have a data ram, a particulate monitoring device

         10  that they station at the pier, and they have

         11  provided us with data there, and we're generally

         12  finding that, okay, occasionally you'll get a little

         13  bit of a blip here and there, but 90 percent, 95

         14  percent of those samples are coming back below those

         15  air quality guidelines.

         16                 In summary, one of the things I

         17  really want to say is that we're very proud of the

         18  effort of all of the people who have worked here.

         19  We've had a very strong solid relationship, the

         20  contractors, the trade unions, the trade

         21  associations, the agencies.

         22                 One of the things that we've done

         23  here, we've worked 2.8-- close to 2.8 million work

         24  hours on this site, and this site has been called

         25  the most dangerous site in America. I believe
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          2  Secretary of Labor Challe made that announcement

          3  when we signed the partnership.

          4                 But, you know, in that time we have

          5  not had a fatal incident to any worker who has been

          6  involved in the rescue recovery operations, we have

          7  not even had a major disabling injury to any of

          8  these people working on this site. Our injury rate

          9  for lost work days, those are cases that cause

         10  people to lose time from work, is less than the

         11  average for a similar type of construction

         12  operation, a demolition operation.

         13                 So, we're very proud of that. We

         14  continue to work diligently and partnered with all

         15  of these folks here today, we're going to continue

         16  our 24/7 efforts to make this a safe site, and to

         17  leave this site clean and to leave it with people

         18  coming off this site who are in the same condition

         19  as when they arrived.

         20                 I thank you very much for the

         21  opportunity to speak to you today.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 So, thanks for all of that testimony,

         25  we're better for hearing it. I know that members of
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          2  the public will be very patient in listening to

          3  everything that you have to say and hearing all of

          4  your good work that you all have done over the last

          5  six months on this.

          6                 I guess I'll start the question by

          7  following up on the question that I asked with

          8  Commissioner Sheirer, and that is, notwithstanding

          9  all of the good things that we've heard and about

         10  how thankfully the dust, I guess, is not as toxic as

         11  it could be, there's been a lot of testing and so

         12  forth, but even listening to the EPA testimony,

         13  something like, you know, 35 percent of the sites or

         14  whatever, 35 percent of the sites came back positive

         15  for asbestos. One of the other witnesses indicated

         16  that it was something like 21 percent of the sites

         17  came back positive, I think that was Health

         18  Committee testimony or something like that.

         19                 And also, understand that I don't

         20  necessarily, although I am not a health

         21  professional, don't buy into the one percent

         22  standard anyway, because, again, everyone says that

         23  this is a brand new circumstance, nothing like this

         24  has ever happened before, heaps and heaps and heaps

         25  of toxic dust being sent out in people's apartments,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            136

          1  ENVIRONMENTAL/HEALTH/LOWER MANHATTAN

          2  I think the percentage standards don't quite get at

          3  it when you're looking at the volume of material

          4  that's coming into certain people's homes, and I

          5  think that's fair. Because, remember, a percentage

          6  is only a percentage, it doesn't speak to the actual

          7  volume.

          8                 So, if you got a sample that's, you

          9  know, eight-tenths and one percent asbestos in an

         10  apartment where there's tons and tons of dust,

         11  that's a heck of a lot of asbestos and we're looking

         12  at the situation where there are, you know, novices,

         13  you know, novices cleaning this up with wet rags and

         14  wet mops and I don't think this is a standard that

         15  we necessarily, or I don't think is a real good one,

         16  and I know that those that have real good building

         17  managers that will call in the professionals to do

         18  the testing, to do the cleaning and to do the

         19  re-entry standards, I think that if I'm a

         20  home-owner, if I'm a resident in this area, or if

         21  I'm a business owner, the only, you know, sample

         22  that really makes sense to me is, you know, my

         23  apartment, and my building manager, and you know,

         24  and what level of government is making sure that the

         25  proper steps are being taken in my apartment.
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          2                 And, so, it seems that we are

          3  comfortable with the notion or the reality of people

          4  cleaning up their own apartments, or building

          5  managers, as well as intentioned as they may be, who

          6  want to reach out to the appropriate authorities to

          7  get the information, you know, doing this kind of

          8  clean-up. DEP's testimony was that only 75 calls

          9  have come in, you know, indicating that there are,

         10  you know, not a lot of people taking the government

         11  up on this service. And I've also heard stories of

         12  people, from other witnesses and just people I see

         13  in the street and people that come to me in my

         14  position as chair, saying, you know, I reached out

         15  to the government and they told me to go to DEP, and

         16  DEP came and then they gave me some information, I

         17  wasn't quite sure, you know, how to interpret it,

         18  although I'm grateful that they came, and who can I

         19  take this to to get this information interpreted?

         20                 And, so, I, for one, am not happy

         21  with the status quo, because it would permit, and I

         22  think we could all realize this, it would permit

         23  that there are apartments out there right now, I

         24  think we can all agree, that never should have been

         25  reoccupied. There are people living in apartments
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          2  right now that are probably not safe, with dust and

          3  whatnot, caught up in HVAC systems and air

          4  conditioners and so on.

          5                 And, so, I put it to whatever level

          6  of government wants to step up, and I think I want

          7  to focus on the federal government here a little

          8  bit. You know, how is it that we can permit a

          9  situation where your novices are cleaning up, you

         10  know, hazardous materials, and these residences may

         11  not be safe? And why don't we move to a situation

         12  where there is government making sure that the

         13  building managers are doing the appropriate testing

         14  by professionals, the cleaning, what appropriate is

         15  also being done by professionals, and that there

         16  are, you know, re-entry standards. We don't have

         17  that now, and I think we need that.

         18                 I will tell you what, one witness in

         19  every level of government speak to this issue at a

         20  minimum, because I'm just not satisfied with the

         21  status quo. I think we need this, and give me some

         22  scientific information where we don't need this.

         23                 Maybe my question is going to be

         24  longer than the answer, but I'm not happy with, you

         25  know, novices cleaning up toxic materials in some
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          2  sort of haphazard way, and children being exposed to

          3  dust.

          4                 We can start with the feds and work

          5  down. Okay, why don't we do that.

          6                 MS. CALLAHAN: I think you're right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

          8                 MS. CALLAHAN: That we've got to look

          9  to the future, and we are all willing to collaborate

         10  and have begun that process, to improve the

         11  situation and to improve people's confidence in what

         12  their living conditions are going to be for the

         13  future, and that's clearly something that we want to

         14  look to the future, and we want to get things

         15  straight and have people confident that they are,

         16  you know, living in a situation that they're healthy

         17  and safe. And we're going to work on whatever it

         18  takes to make that happen.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Now, what form

         20  do you think that might take?

         21                 Do you think that might take some

         22  FEMA money coming in here to clean up all these

         23  apartments or something like that? Is that on the

         24  table?

         25                 MS. CALLAHAN: That's on the table.
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          2  Many things are on the table.

          3                 We have had broad ranging discussions

          4  to throw options out and we're beginning a process

          5  where we're going to sort through this.

          6                 I think that a couple of things are

          7  worth clarifying.

          8                 In terms of the one percent, I mean

          9  that's a regulatory number that applies to

         10  demolition and renovation situations. And obviously,

         11  the Towers collapsing are not the equivalent of

         12  those kind of control situations.

         13                 And, so, that's why when we went out

         14  in the streets and did the streets and the public

         15  areas while we measured for one percent to give us

         16  an indicator of what the nature of the problem was,

         17  we didn't clean up only areas where there was one

         18  percent asbestos, we cleaned up every bit of dust

         19  that we could get at. And I think that, you know,

         20  the City's efforts to get the remainder of the

         21  building debris cleaned is coming at it from the

         22  same approach. Let's get it all done, because we

         23  don't want anything out there that's going to be

         24  re-entrained in apartments once we have apartments

         25  cleaned and we get downtown New York recovered.
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          2                 And, so, I think we really are moving

          3  more and more towards sort of a unified approach on

          4  this supporting one another. Initially you divvy up

          5  responsibilities, because there's so much to be done

          6  in emergency response. But we're coming together on

          7  the indoor air issue because it's obviously a

          8  continuing concern of the residents and no doubt

          9  people who work down here, too, want to be

         10  reassured, and, so, on that --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But the bottom

         12  line is, you know, either government is going to

         13  step up and make sure that this is being done, or

         14  they're not, and right now they're not. And, so,

         15  they're giving the information, they get the

         16  advisories, the building managers, God bless them,

         17  they go out there and they do what they can, maybe

         18  they're doing it well, maybe they're not doing it

         19  well, but, you know, we don't really know, and it's

         20  really not a situation out there where the

         21  government is saying, you know, did you do the

         22  testing, you have to certify the fact that this was

         23  done, and if the scope of the problem is, you know,

         24  what you all say it is, then what are we afraid of

         25  here? What are we afraid of? You know what I mean?
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          2                 MS. CALLAHAN: That's why we've

          3  established an indoor air task force, because we're

          4  not afraid of it.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: And, so, it

          6  seems that we're almost --

          7                 MS. CALLAHAN: I think that's where we

          8  want to go. We want to work together and continue to

          9  deal with any problems.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I just would

         11  like to point out for the record also that I've seen

         12  memos written by someone who has worked for the EPA

         13  for the last 22 years, I think her name is Kate

         14  Jenkins. Also, she's a Ph.D, she's a scientist on

         15  all those matters, and I don't know if this is her

         16  -- I mean, she's written memos on it, I'm to

         17  presume that it would be her area of expertise, but

         18  she seems to take great issue with this one percent

         19  standard, and I will defer to someone who's got 22

         20  years on the job and a Ph.D to back it up. So, that

         21  to me, in my mind, is sort of, you know, raises

         22  questions in my mind of someone in your own agency,

         23  and not just guys like me taking issue with the one

         24  percent standard for this kind of situation. I will

         25  just toss that out there.
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          2                 MS. CALLAHAN: Okay, toss it out. Let

          3  me toss back, Dr. Jenkins takes those positions as

          4  an individual. It's her own personal statement that

          5  she is taking those positions as an individual.

          6                 In her work for EPA she is not an

          7  expert in this area. That is not her area of

          8  responsibility, and, so, she puts forth her opinions

          9  as an individual. We've looked at them because we

         10  respect the opinions of individuals, and, you know,

         11  we're confident that what we're doing is appropriate

         12  and we're going to continue to look at all

         13  critiques, and where we think we need to, you know,

         14  change the way we've done business, we would do it.

         15  But a lot of her critiques are inaccurate and

         16  haven't represented EPA's position appropriately,

         17  and, so, she's entitled to put forth a position as

         18  an individual, but it is not the expert position of

         19  the agency.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay, thank you.

         21                 The next level of government, how

         22  about the State sort of step up to this one.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JOHNSON: DEC's

         24  role is more limited. We have been involved along

         25  with the State Department of Health and the Center
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          2  for Environmental Health in the discussions on

          3  indoor air. And I guess I would echo a little bit

          4  what Ms. Callahan has said. We do not put out, and

          5  we have not been relying on the one percent as a

          6  bright line test that people should look at and say

          7  above one percent, you've got a problem; below one

          8  percent you're absolutely fine. The message from the

          9  State primarily has been that the contamination is

         10  in the dust. And if dust is in your apartment it

         11  needs to be cleaned, and if it's a level where you

         12  think that you can't handle it yourself, then you

         13  need to have it professionally cleaned, and we're

         14  working to find ways to ensure that that's done.

         15                 I think we all appreciate the

         16  concerns that are brought there.

         17                 But I think the message, and Dr.

         18  Leighton has echoed it as well, by saying you need

         19  to clean repeatedly if there's concerns. We need to

         20  get the message out that the contamination, the

         21  concern that people should have is in the dust. And

         22  if we get it taken care of, I think that we can

         23  assure people that they're environment is safe.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Sure. But with

         25  the caveat that people, you know, seeking to clean
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          2  up this dust, if they are not doing it the right

          3  way, they're, you know, doing a lot of harm. And if

          4  they just clean the air, if they just clean the dust

          5  in their apartment, and if the dust in the

          6  ventilation systems and ductwork and so on is not

          7  spoken to and dealt with then the problem will

          8  persist. We're talking about residences, we're

          9  talking about children and every day that we don't

         10  come to our ultimate plan for how we're going to

         11  have government take the proactive role it needs to

         12  take, that's one more day that kids are being

         13  exposed, one more day that people are doing clean up

         14  the wrong way, one more day that someone has been

         15  going into a room that's been closed off since

         16  September 11th, now they're going to finally get in

         17  there and clean it. You know, one more day that

         18  damages is being done and government, I think, has

         19  to step up a little more, other than just giving out

         20  an advisory and hoping that people will, you know,

         21  have the ability to kind of hire professionals and

         22  do the kind of testing that needs to be done. The

         23  government should be making sure that it's done, and

         24  that's not happening now and that really is sort of

         25  like the threshold question.
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          2                 And, so, do you have anything to add

          3  to that or do you want to kick it down to the City?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER JOHNSON: I think

          5  primarily the State agrees with you and I think that

          6  all our partners agree and we're moving forward in

          7  that direction. We have to ensure that cleaning the

          8  apartment isn't sufficient in some cases, we have to

          9  make sure that the building exterior rooftop HVAC

         10  systems can assure people that that's not going to

         11  continue to create a contamination problem.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         13                 Please identify yourself for the

         14  record again.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Yes.

         16  Bob Avaltroni, Deputy Commissioner of DEP.

         17                 Mr. Chairman, your point is well

         18  taken, and I think I alluded to the fact that I

         19  think we've done much, and I think some of the

         20  things that we've suggested in our power point

         21  presentation may be as surprising to some of the

         22  people, maybe we didn't get that information out

         23  well enough and that's not being critical of all of

         24  us, but the people need to know.

         25                 As you said, there's been a debate
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          2  and that's unfortunate when you have people having a

          3  hesitation in terms of what should I do.

          4                 I think EPA has certainly stepped

          5  forward and said we need to have a task force that's

          6  going to drive harder and work on what we've done

          7  previously to instill a confidence level.

          8                 I alluded to the Mayor again being

          9  visionary in terms of his effort. He appreciates

         10  what we've done already, but he's asking us to do

         11  more and rightfully so.

         12                 We have a commitment to work with our

         13  colleagues to ensure that whatever is necessary, to

         14  make sure these people feel comfortable in their

         15  areas, that we can redevelop this area properly is

         16  taken and that's number one on our agenda.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, I've just

         18  received a press release about Mayor Michael

         19  Bloomberg and Senator Hillary Clinton announced

         20  Downtown Air Quality Task Force, and Mayor

         21  Bloomberg's own statement, "public confidence in the

         22  air quality around the World Trade Center site is

         23  needed to the revitalization and economic growth of

         24  downtown. We cannot reattract" -- I should put my

         25  glasses on, right? "We cannot attract residents and
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          2  businesses back to Lower Manhattan unless they know

          3  they are safe."

          4                 So, this certainly is a very welcomed

          5  statement, but I would suggest that the roadmap from

          6  here to that level of comfort would be the steps

          7  that we've outlined, maybe through some, you know,

          8  federal money from FEMA, or whatever. I don't think

          9  it's a bad thing to go building by building,

         10  apartment by apartment to make sure that these

         11  residences are safe to reoccupy. I don't think that

         12  it's asking a lot of residences who have been

         13  attacked.

         14                 And, so, I know that this is all our

         15  common goal, it seems we're moving, you know, in

         16  that direction, we've got the Mayor onboard now

         17  seemingly, and hopefully it will be a greater push

         18  to bring this to reality.

         19                 Is there anyone -- would that

         20  conclude your remarks on that, Bob?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AVALTRONI: Yes,

         22  Mr. Chairman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: All right. Is

         24  there anyone else that wants to speak to this issue?

         25  Anyone else from the federal government, perhaps? I
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          2  guess you would be the lead spokesperson from the

          3  federal government, from EPA? Okay, I just wanted to

          4  know if there was anyone else that wanted to, you

          5  know, speak to that question.

          6                 Yes, I would like to, I have many

          7  other questions that I would like to ask, but I've

          8  been kind of -- I'm going to formulate my thoughts a

          9  little bit, I'd like to ask another member if they

         10  have questions right now?

         11                 Okay, I recognize Council Member

         12  Quinn.

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. I

         14  don't know if the Deputy Director of OEM is still

         15  here or not?

         16                 MR. GABRIEL: Yes.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Oh, hi.

         18                 A little bit after the Commissioner

         19  left I was given a copy of the press release from

         20  the Mayor's Office that announces that he and

         21  Senator Clinton had a press conference today, and in

         22  addition to the hot line I guess the Downtown Air

         23  Quality Task Force has been created, which sounds

         24  like a very positive step, sounds actually, which I

         25  guess in the great minds thinking a like, sounds a
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          2  lot like the resolution which Council Member Gerson,

          3  myself and others had introduced. So, I was

          4  wondering if you could elaborate a little bit on

          5  what that task force is, what it's going to do, who

          6  it's comprised of, et cetera.

          7                 MR. GABRIEL: I would be glad to. My

          8  name is Edward Gabriel, I'm a Deputy Director of

          9  OEM.

         10                 The task force is going to meet

         11  obviously weekly. There's actually three components

         12  of it that we have been looking at now for a little

         13  while. Let me give you some idea of how it will

         14  operate.

         15                 It will be a multi-agency City/State

         16  task force.  The specific agencies on the --

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON QUINN: No federal?

         18                 MR. GABRIEL: We will bring our

         19  federal partners in also.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

         21                 MR. GABRIEL: We will make sure I will

         22  get you a complete list of all the agencies that are

         23  on it, but I can tell you that it will include DEP,

         24  DOH, all the initial agencies in this City, as well

         25  as the State DEP. We'll make sure that we bring in
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